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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MRRE

KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
FEMBRR

Year ended 31 March

HE3RNALEE
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss FEBER 2020 2019 Change
(Restated)
(E51) b1 %
— Revenue (HK$'000) — WA (FAT) 124,853 159,399 (34,546)  (21.67)%
— Gross profit (HK$'000) —EM(FAT) 63,039 61,509 1,530 2.49%
— Loss before tax (HK$'000) —BREAEsE(FAL) (165,055) (94,985) (70,070) 73.77%
Owners BEA
Loss for the year and atiributable to the owners AR REIEA AJEEFREE
of the Company (HK$'000) (F&T) (190,842)  (128,976) (61,866) 47.97%
Basic and diluted loss per share (HK cents) SREARREEBE(EIL) (10.01) (6.77) (3.24) 47.86%
As at 31 March
M3A31H
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ~ && BB R E 2020 2019 Change
(Restated)
(E51) b1 %
Net assets (HK$'000) BEFE(TAL) 470,481 775,091 (304,610)  (39.30)%
Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) BekERR(FEL) 1,376,409 163,818 1,212,591 740.21%
Promissory notes, bank and other borrowings ERER  BROKEMEE
(HK$'000) (F&T) 3,736,597 2334374 1402223 60.07%
Equity attributable to owners of the Company /NI 2PN Erd
(HK$'000) (F&T) 470,481 775,091 (304,610)  (39.30)%

Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2020



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBREE

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS
FTERKLR
2020 2019 Change
(Restated)
(27) 28
Gross profit margin(" ES A ES 50.49% 38.59% +11.9 percentage
points
(FEpE
Return on equity® BERE SRR (40.56)% (16.64)% -23.92 percentage
points
(FEpE
Current ratio (times)® B (f5) ©) 4.89 1.91
Gearing ratio (times)“) BAREELER(F)@ 7.94 3.01

M

@

Gross profit margin represents gross profit divided by revenue of the Group.

Return on equity is defined as the ratio of loss attributable to owners of the
Company to total equity attributable to owners of the Company.

Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities.

Gearing ratio represents promissory notes bank and other borrowings, including
current and non-current portions, divided by total equity.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), | am
pleased to present the result of Man Sang International Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (“FY20").

PERFORMANCE

The Group mainly focuses on the development, sales and leasing of
properties in Mainland China. At the same time, through the active
integration of upstream and downstream light assets businesses
in the real estate industry, these businesses have achieved the
coordinated development with main business. The economy of China
has maintained stable growth in the FY20. However, as affected by
the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") epidemic since January 2020,
the overall economic development has slowed down and the real
estate industry has also been affected to some extent. The current
business strategy of the Group is to gradually improve the overall value
of the property by enhancing the operation of the holding property.
The revenue generated from sales of those residential apartments of
the redeveloped property located in the central business district of
Chongaing, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (known as the
“Chongaing Property”) amounted to HK$109,680,000, decreased by
HK$47,041,000 as compared to the prior year; and the newly acquired
property management business generated revenue of HK$15,173,000
during the year.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company increased from
HK$128,976,000 (as restated) in FY19 to HK$190,842,000 in FY20,
representing an approximately 47.97% increase over the previous year,
which was mainly attributable to an increase in (1) staff costs in FY20
by HK$16,047,000 after expansion of the Group; (2) depreciation of
property, plant and equipment by HK$11,447,000 mainly arose from
the serviced apartments of the Chongging Property; (3) depreciation
of right-of-use assets by HK$4,315,000 due to adoption of HKFRS 16
Leases; (4) impairment losses on certain assets by HK$15,923,000 and
(5) finance costs by HK$15,301,000.

PROSPECTS

The redevelopment process of Chongging property is approaching
completion, which will comprise of residential apartments (for sale),
serviced apartments managed by an international renowned hotel
management group (for lease) and a shopping mall (for lease).
Chongqing Property’s redevelopment plan is in planned schedule, and
due to its geographical advantages, Chongging property is expected to
become one of the new landmarks in Yuzhong District.
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The Chongging Property is located in the central business district.
Given the promising commercial and residential property market in
Chongging, the property price still have room for improvement when
compared with other same tier cities, and the implementation of
“The Belt and Road Initiative” also brings development opportunities
to the Chongqing real estate market. It is expected that the selling
of residential apartments and leasing of serviced apartments and
commercial units in the shopping mall will enable the Group to generate
stable income in the long run.

Given the Group’s currently relatively higher gearing position and
the deleveraging policy implemented by the PRC government, the
Company remained focus on (i) monitoring the financial performance
of the existing business in the Chongging Property; (ii) maximising the
return from the Chongqing Property so as to generate stable income
and cash flows and lower the gearing ratio and the finance costs.

The Group adheres to the development direction of taking real estate
development as the core business and integrating the upstream
and downstream light assets businesses of the industrial chain. The
acquisition of a property management company was completed in
March 2020. The property management company has several projects
under management as well as certain upcoming potential projects,
and it has been recognised as the Top 100 Property Management
Companies in China in 2020. At the same time, the property
management company will also undertake the real estate projects
under construction and other potential real estate projects, which
are expected to bring stable income to the Group. In addition, the
Group has obtained the PRC Grade One construction and decoration
engineering contractor qualification, which expected to strengthen the
revenue stream. The Group is also committed to continuously improving
its overall financial performance and diversity of its portfolio. In the
future, we will create shareholders’ value through making continuous
investments and acquiring business or projects.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to
all our shareholders, customers and other business partners for their
long-term attention and support to the Group over the years. | would
also like to thank the senior management team and all staff of the Group
for their dedication and hard work to the Group during the past year.

Hu Xingrong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEERWED T

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Board is pleased to report the results of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (“FY20”). During FY20, the consolidated
loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$190,842,000 (year ended 31 March 2019 (“FY19"):
HK$128,976,000, as restated). Basic loss per share was 10.01 HK cents
(FY19:6.77 HK cents, as restated).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group remained focusing on the development, sales and leasing
of properties in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), adhered
to developing the core business of real estate businesses, further
integrated the upstream and downstream asset-light business of the
industrial chain, and actively diversified the income sources. During
FY20, the sale volume of property in the PRC decreased slightly which
affected by the global environment and the effect of COVID-19. The
Group expected that the sale volume of property will grow in the long
run.

Chongqing Property

Chongging Kingstone Land Co., Limited (EEZ2AEHER A7)
(“Chongging Kingstone”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, holds a property located at 77 Qingnian Road, Yuzhong
District, Chongging, the PRC (the “Chongging Property”). It is close to
Jiefangbei Walking Street which is a local famous pedestrian lane with
numerous retail shops.

Included in the Chongging Property, the shopping mall is classified
as “Investment Properties under Construction”, the fair value of which
amounted to HK$1,750,181,000 as at 31 March 2020, which was
equivalent to 38.03% of total assets of the Group.

The residential apartments are all available for sales. The serviced
apartments have been officially put into operation. The renovation
work of the shopping mall is approaching completion, and it is in the
process of attracting suitable brands to open retail outlets in the mall.
The redevelopment plan of Chongging Property is proceeding as
scheduled. Although the project is affected by COVID-19 in the short
term, Chongging Property will become one of the new landmarks in
Yuzhong District as a result of its geographical advantage, planning
programming and managerial experience.

We believe the lease income from serviced apartments and shopping
mall will become the steady income source of the Group in the long run.

Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Looking forward

The redevelopment process of Chongging Property is approaching
completion and the business is moving into the operation stage from
development stage. The Group will continue to focus on (i) monitoring
the financial performance of the operation in the Chongging Property;
and (ii) maximising the return from the Chongqing Property so as to
generate stable income and cash flows and lower the gearing ratio and
the finance costs of the Group.

The Company is actively looking for opportunities, to diversify the
revenue sources and creating shareholders’ value. The Group
completed the acquisition of a property management company in
March 2020. The property management company has several property
management projects on hand as well as several potential projects.
Which was also recognised as the Top 100 Property Management
Companies in China in 2020. In addition, the Group has obtained the
PRC Grade One construction and decoration engineering contractor
qualification, which expected to strengthen the revenue stream.

At the present stage, the Company is also actively looking for
investment and acquisition opportunities that have promising outlooks
and prospects to diversify the revenue sources of the Group in order to
create shareholders’ value.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin

Revenue of the Group was HK$124,853,000 (FY19: HK$159,399,000, as
restated) during FY20, which comprised sales of residential apartments
of the Chongqing Property and property management services. The
revenue has decreased by HK$34,546,000 or 21.67% as a result of the
decrease in the number of apartments sold.

Gross profit of the Group increased by HK$1,530,000 or 2.49% to
HK$63,039,000 (FY19: HK$61,509,000, as restated) in FY20 as a result
of the selling of certain residential apartments with higher profit margin
during the year and the increase in property management fee income
during the year.

The increase in gross profit margin of the Group from 38.59% in FY19
(as restated) to 50.49% in FY20 was mainly due to the sale of certain
apartment units with relatively higher profit margin as compared to other
ordinary apartment units.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB WED AN

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses mainly comprised selling
expenses of HK$13,619,000 (FY19: HK$7,627,000, as restated) and
administrative expenses of HK$74,782,000 (FY19: HK$43,424,000,
as restated). The selling and administrative expenses increased by
HK$37,350,000 or 73.16% to HK$88,401,000 (FY19: HK$51,051,000, as
restated) in FY20, which was mainly due to (1) an increase of staff costs
in FY20 by HK$16,047,000 after expansion of the Group; (2) increase
in drepreciation of property, plant and equipment by HK$11,447,000
mainly arose from the serviced apartments of the Chongging Property;
and (3) increase in depreciation of right-of-use assets by HK$4,315,000
due to adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

The loss attributable to owners of the Company increased from
HK$128,976,000 (as restated) in FY19 to HK$190,842,000 in FY20,
representing an approximately 47.97% increase over the previous
year, which was mainly attributable to the increase in the selling and
administrative expenses as explained above, impairment losses on
certain assets and the increase finance costs.

Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s total equity was HK$470,481,000
(2019: HK$775,091,000, as restated), representing a decrease of
39.30% from last year, which was due to (1) an incurring of loss
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$190,842,000; and (2) an
exchange loss on translation of foreign operations of HK$113,664,000
as a result of the depreciation of Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars.

During the year, the Group obtained a new bank loan with principal
amount of RMB1,250,000,000, equivalent to HK$1,362,500,000, which
carries a fixed interest of 7% per annum and will mature on 30 March
2035. This bank borrowing was mainly utilised to repay other borrowings
with shorter repayment terms and higher interest charges, further to the
repayment of such borrowings after the end of the reporting period, the
liquidity of the Group was improved and such also lowered its overall
financial cost.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
HK$1,376,409,000 (2019: HK$163,818,000, as restated). Cash and
bank balances were mainly denominated in Renminbi. The Group’s net
current assets amounted to HK$1,495,784,000 (2019: HK$341,119,000,
as restated). The current ratio, represented by total current assets
divided by total current liabilities, was 4.89 (2019: 1.91, as restated).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had current liabilities of
HK$384,293,000 (2019: HK$374,113,000, as restated) and total
borrowings, representing bank and other borrowings, promissory
notes and unsecured borrowings from a Director, amounted to
HK$3,736,597,000 (2019: HK$2,334,374,000) which are interest bearing
and denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The Group does
not currently use any derivatives to manage interest rate risk. Gearing
ratio, represented by total borrowings divided by total equity, was 7.94
(2019: 3.01). Approximately HK$17,686,000 (2019: HK$73,030,000)
of the total borrowings will be due in the coming twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. As at 31 March 2020, the Group had
capital commitment of HK$82,077,000 (2019: HK$125,937,000),
while its net current assets and cash and cash equivalents amounted
to HK$1,495,784,000 (2019: HK$341,119,000, as restated) and
HK$1,376,409,000 (2019: HK$163,818,000, as restated), respectively.

In view of the above, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections covering a period of twelve months from 31 March 2020
which have taken into account the following measures:

(1) Sales of residential apartment units of the Chongging Property
will continue to generate operating cash inflows to the Group;

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has entered
into agreements with the lenders to extend the maturity date of
the following facilities:

(a) Maturity date of promissory notes with aggregate
principal amount of HK$778,000,000 was extended
from 28 July 2020 to 28 July 2021;

Maturity date of unsecured revolving loan facility of
RMB500,000,000, equivalent to HK$545,000,000, from
Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr. Hu”), the executive director and
chairman of the Company, was extended from 31 May
2020 to 6 July 2021;

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, the Group made
early repayment of other borrowing classified as non-current
liability of RMB723,000,000, equivalent to HK$788,070,000;

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group made
repayment of unsecured borrowings from Mr. Hu classified
as non-current liabilities of RMB417,180,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$454,726,000; and

Following the repayment to Mr. Hu, the Group still have
unutilised facilities provided by Mr. Hu amounted to
approximately HK$546,215,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB WED AN

Based on the above, in the opinion of the Directors, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to fulfil its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31 March 2020.
Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
these consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group principally operates its businesses in Hong Kong and PRC.
The Group has subsidiaries operating in PRC, in which most of their
transactions are denominated in Renminbi. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange fluctuations from Renminbi which is the main foreign
currency transacted by the Group during FY20.

The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange contract as hedging
measures during FY20. The Group manages its foreign currency risk
against RMB by closely monitoring its movement and may use hedging
derivatives, such as foreign currency forward contracts, to manage its
foreign currency risk as appropriate.

Human resources and remuneration policy

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total workforce of 220 (2019: 61).
The total staff cost, including Directors’ emoluments and mandatory
provident fund contributions, amounted to HK$46,151,000 (2019:
HK$27,476,000, as restated). Employees are remunerated based on
their performance and experience. Remuneration package, including
salary and year-end discretionary bonus, is determined by reference
to market conditions and individual performance. In order to align the
interests of staff, Directors and consultants with the Group, share options
may be granted to staff, Directors and consultants under the Group’s
share option scheme (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”). There were no
share options outstanding under the 2012 Share Option Scheme as at
31 March 2020.

Charge on Asset and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2020, the Chongging Property was pledged to secure
banking borrowings granted to Chongging Kingstone.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Save as disclosed above, the Group held no significant investment as
at 31 March 2020.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Details of the material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures by the Group are set out in notes 39 and 40 to the
consolidated financial statement.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHAIRMAN

Mr. Hu Xingrong, aged 40, was appointed as the chairman of the
Board and an executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2018. He
is also the chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Hu is responsible for the
business strategy and direction of the Company and provides leadership
for the Board and ensure proper and effective functioning of the
Board. He has over 17 years of experience in corporate management,
investment and business development. He is currently the chairman of
the board of directors of Doof International Holding Group Limited* (%
BEFR R EEARAE]) (“Doof Group”) a company established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and is involved in the business
of properties development in the PRC. Mr. Hu is also a beneficial owner
of China DaDi Group Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Meanwhile, Mr. Hu serves
as a committee member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, the President of
Wenzhou Enterprises Chamber of Commerce in Beijing* (1L R M (b5
), the Honorary President of Hong Kong Wenzhou Entrepreneurs
Association Limited, Zhejiang Merchants Association of Chongging*
(EEmMEEAE), Chongging Wenzhou Merchant Association,
Los Angeles Wenzhou Merchant Association in US (ZEBL& BRI
&), Wenzhou Merchant Association in Canada (12 A2Mig< ),
Wenzhou Economic and Technological Development Zone Chamber
of Commerce (R /M A iTF %2 47 € ), Wenzhou Economic and
Technological Development Zone Entrepreneur Association* (& /&€
R EECERHE) and Wenzhou Economic and Technological
Development Zone Industrial Economic Federation* (j& ) A4 75 5 i
Bm T L ERA ), the Honorary Life President of Chinese General
Chamber of Commerce — Greek (FEHEEEE ), a member of the
advisory committee of Wenzhou Reseach Institute of Zhejiang University
O AR MNATZERE ) and a member of the Hainan Foundation for
Justice and Courage™ (/854 R & B R/EEE)and other social titles.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Xiaohai, aged 51, was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company on 2 May 2018. He is also a member of each of
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Huang is responsible for the overall implementation of
the Company’s strategies and the co-ordination of overall business
operations. He has over 31 years of extensive experience in banking
and financial sectors. He graduated from China University of Petroleum
(Beijing). Mr. Huang is currently working as a vice president in Doof
Group.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEABBE

Mr. Jin Jianggui, aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Jin graduated from Hangzhou
Dianzi University with a Bachelor's Degree in Finance. He has over 27
years of extensive experience in banking and finance sectors. Mr. Jin is
currently working as a vice president in Doof Group.

Mr. Li Zhenyu, aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Li graduated from Tsinghua
University with a Doctor of Philosophy in Chemical Engineering. Mr. Li
has over 18 years of extensive experience in natural resources sector
and before joining the Company, he had been working in China National
Petroleum Corporation from 1999 to 2017 and the position last held was
the strategy research supervisor of the petrochemical institute. Mr. Li is
currently working as a vice president in Doof Group.

Mr. Xu Haohao, aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company on 30 July 2019 and
2 September 2019 respectively. Mr. Xu is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Xu holds a bachelor’s degree in
Financial Administration from University of Winnipeg, Canada and an
EMBA degree from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Xu has over 10
years of experience in financial and corporate management and before
joining the Company as the executive Director on 30 July 2019, he
had been working in Hong Kong Airlines Limited as General Manager,
Finance from 2012 to 2014. Mr. Xu had been serving as an executive
director of CWT International Limited (stock code: 521) (“CWT"), a
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), from December 2014 to June 2019. He was also
appointed as an executive president of CWT from February 2015 to
March 2018, co-chairman of CWT from March 2018 to June 2019,
chief executive officer of CWT from November 2018 to February 2019,
chairman of the nomination committee, executive committee and
investment committee and member of the remuneration committee of
CWT from March 2018 to June 2019. Mr. Xu was also a director of HY
Energy Group Co., Ltd. (Uit REBRMHBRAF) (stock code:
600387), an A-Shares listed company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
from May 2018 to May 2019. Mr. Xu was a non-executive director of AID
Life Science Holdings Limited (stock code: 8088), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, from November 2016 to September 2019 .
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Pau Yee Ling, aged 41, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. She is also the
chairlady of the remuneration committee of the Company and a member
of each of the audit committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Ms. Pau holds a Bachelor degree of Business Administration
in Accounting in the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
and a Master degree of Science in China Business Studies in the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Pau has around 16 years of
experience in several multi-national corporations and international
accounting firms, expertise in Hong Kong, the PRC and overseas
tax advisory, group restructuring, merger and acquisitions. Ms. Pau
is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. He is also
the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and a member
of each of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Wong holds a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has
over 19 years of experience in accounting and financial management,
mergers and acquisitions gained from certain senior finance related
positions including companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is a fellow
member of the HKICPA. Mr. Wong is currently an independent Non-
executive Director of Culturecom Holdings Limited (Stock code: 343)
and Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (Stock code: 1401), both of these
companies are listed on The Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. He is also
a member of each audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Yuen has been serving
as an executive director of Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company
Limited (“Huayi Tencent”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 419). For the period from 2010 to 2016, Mr. Yuen was
also the chairman and chief executive officer of Huayi Tencent, as well
as serving on its remuneration committee and chairing its nomination
committee, executive committee and corporate governance committee.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Haoliang, aged 32, was appointed as the Group chief
financial officer on 18 October 2019. Mr. Cheng has many years of
experience in financial management, banking and corporate finance.
Prior to joining the Company, he worked in renowned banks and listed
company in Hong Kong and served senior roles in finance function.

The English name is for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) recognises the importance of achieving the
highest standard of corporate governance consistent with the needs
and requirements of its businesses and the best interest of all of its
stakeholders, and the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
is fully committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards
of corporate governance provide a framework and solid foundation for
the Group to manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve
high standard of accountability and protect stakeholders’ interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement of
policy which provides guidance on the application of the corporate
governance principles on the Group, with reference to the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all code
provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon
specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2020. To ensure Directors’ dealings in the securities of
the Company (the “Securities”) are conducted in accordance with the
Model Code and securities code of the Company, a Director is required
to notify the Chairman in writing and obtain a written acknowledgement
from the Chairman prior to any dealings in the Securities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group,
which includes leadership and control of the Company and oversees
the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk
management and performances. The management team is delegated
with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the day-to-
day management of the Group. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Major corporate matters that are
specifically delegated by the Board to the management include (1) the
preparation of interim and annual reports and announcements for the
Board’s approval before publishing; (2) implementation of adequate
systems of internal controls and risk management procedures; and (3)
compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and
rules and regulations. It is the responsibility of the Board to determine
the appropriate corporate governance practices applicable to the
Company’s circumstances and to ensure processes and procedures are
in place to achieve the Company’s corporate governance objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the business requirements and objectives
of the Group and for the exercise of independent judgement. Each
Director with various professional qualification, experience and related
financial management expertise have contributed to the effective
direction of the Company and provided adequate checks and balances
to safeguard to the interests of both the Group and the shareholders.
Hence, the Board believes that the current Board composition satisfy the
balance of expertise, skills and experience to the corporate governance
requirements of the Group as well as the ongoing development and
management of its business activities.

The Board currently comprises five executive Directors, namely Mr. Hu
Xingrong (chairman of the Board), Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui,
Mr. Li Zhenyu and Mr. Xu Haohao and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen
Hoi Po.

The biographies of the existing Directors are set out in “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 13 to 15 of this annual
report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERRE

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Company'’s interim and annual results. During the
year, twenty five Board meetings were held and the attendance of each
Director at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed “Board
and Committees Meetings” of this annual report.

Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. All Directors are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda
for meetings to comply with all applicable rules and regulations. The
agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally sent to
Directors at least three days before the intended date of a Board
meeting. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to
Directors for their comment before being tabled at the next Board
meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary
and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, all Directors appointed to fill
a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re- election at
the meeting. At each annual general meeting, at least one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

Save and except for Mr. Hu Xingrong who beneficially owns 100% in the
issued share capital of China DaDi International Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, there is no relationship between
members of the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the
“CEQ”) of the Group are clearly defined and segregated to ensure
independence and proper checks and balances. The Chairman
focuses on the business strategy and direction of the Company and
has executive responsibilities, provides leadership for the Board and
ensures proper and effective functioning of the Board in discharging of
its responsibilities. The CEQ is accountable to the Board for the overall
implementation of the Company'’s strategies and the co- ordination of
overall business operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ADOPTION AND COMPLIANCE OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board adopted a set of corporate governance practices which
aligns with or is more restrictive than the requirements set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange. Except for code provision A.2.1, the Board is of
the view that the Company has complied with the code provisions set
out in the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Under the code provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.
Before the appointment of Mr. Xu Haohao as the CEO of the Company
on 2 September 2019, the chairman of the Board was performed by
Mr. Hu Xingrong and the Company did not have a chief executive. After
the appointment of Mr. Xu, the Company has complied with this code
accordingly.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1),
3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received
confirmation of independence from all three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen
Hoi Po in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent non-
executive Directors and concluded that all of them are independent
within the definition of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is
not aware of the occurrence of any events which would cause it to
believe that the independence of any of the independent non-executive
Directors has been impaired up to the date of this annual report.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service agreement with the Company pursuant to which each of them
is appointed for service with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 4 November 2019 and shall continue thereafter. Their
terms of appointment shall be subject to the rotational retirement
provision of the bye-laws of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointing a new Director, each new Director receives an
induction package covering business operations, policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory
obligations of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware
of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant
regulatory requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, will receive amendments to
or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition,
the Company encourages the Directors to enrol in a wide range
of professional development courses and seminars relating to the
Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and corporate
governance practices so that they can continuously improve their
relevant knowledge and skills. The Company has also provided reading
materials to all Directors to develop and refresh their professional
knowledge.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Directors participated in the
following continuous professional development:
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Reading materials

updating on

new rules and

Name of Directors regulations

BIEEEMRAIR

ERBNER

BEEpng ZER

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Hu Xingrong TREE v

Mr. Huang Xiaohai =EHEE v

Mr. Jin Jianggui SITERE v

Mr. Li Zhenyu FRFEE v

Mr. Xu Haohao (appointed on 30 July 2019) BREZFA (201957 A0REE ) v
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES

Ms. Pau Yee Ling Sk E L+ v

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEENEE v

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po REREE v
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 22
August 2013 which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversed Board and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company’s
strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to talents,
skills, experience, independence and knowledge. The Company will
also take into consideration its own business model and specific needs
from time to time. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight Directors,
amongst them, three are independent non-executive Directors, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management process. The
Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether considered
in terms of gender, age, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Policy and the Board's composition, the Nomination
Committee considered that the requirements of the Policy had been
met.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with specific
written terms of reference and all members of the Audit Committee
are Independent Non-executive Directors. Pursuant to the Audit
Committee’s terms of reference, the Audit Committee is authorised to
commit Company’s funds in order to obtain advice from outside legal
counsel, accountants, investigatory services or other expert advice.
Details of the authority and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen
Hoi Po. Mr. Wong Kwan Kit is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee held three
meetings including the review of the annual results for the year ended
31 March 2019 and the interim results for the six months ended 30
September 2019 before their submission to the Board and monitored
the integrity of such consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Audit Committee also had a private meeting with the independent
auditor without the presence of management to discuss any area of
concern. The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is
set out in the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this
annual report.

The Audit Committee has also discussed and reviewed the key audit
matters determined by the external auditor under Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing for the year ended 31 March 2020.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board with
specific written terms of reference and the majority of the members of
the Remuneration Committee are Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Details of the authority and responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, and two executive Directors, namely Mr. Hu Xingrong
and Mr. Huang Xiaohai. Ms. Pau Yee Ling is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Remuneration Committee
held three meetings to approve the remuneration packages for the
Directors of the Company. The attendance of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and
Committees Meetings” of this annual report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year ended

31 March 2020 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020, the annual salary of the senior
management (exclude Directors) of the Company falls within the
following band.

Remuneration band

MesE

EERRE

il

REE2020F3A31HIFFE » ARAIBAEEA
FBRIN ZFHEN T T EE -

(&

\

Number of senior
management
SEAEIN-E

Nil-HK$1,000,000
£ 21,000,000 7T

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board with
specific terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for, amongst other things, identifying individuals suitably qualified
to become Board members, considering the reappointment of
the Directors and succession planning for Directors and making
recommendations to the Board in respect of the aforesaid matters.
Details of the authority and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non- executive
Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen
Hoi Po, and two executive Directors, namely Mr. Hu Xingrong and Mr.
Huang Xiaohai. Mr. Hu Xingrong is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee
held three meetings to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board and concluded that members of the Board has possessed
the expertise and independence to carry out the Board’s functions and
responsibilities. The attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this annual report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the nomination criteria and procedures for the
Company to select candidate(s) for possible inclusion in the Board. The
Nomination Policy could assist the Company to achieve board diversity
in the Company and enhance the effectiveness of the Board and its
corporate governance standard.
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When assessing the suitability of a candidate, factors such as the
qualifications, skills, integrity and experience will be taken into
consideration as a whole. In the case of independent non-executive
Directors, they must further satisfy the independence criteria set out
within Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Since the selection of candidates
should ensure that diversity remains a central feature of the Board, a
range of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, or professional experience would
be considered.

The process to identify potential candidates for the Board would be as
follows:
(1) identifying potential candidates, including recommendations
from the Board members, professional search firms and the
shareholders of the Company;

evaluating the candidates based on the approved selection
criteria through methods such as reviewing the resume and
conducting the background checks;

reviewing the profiles of the shortlisted candidates and interview
them; and

(4) making recommendations to the Board on the selected
candidates.

The Nomination Policy also includes the Board succession plan
to assess whether vacancies on the Board would be created or
expected due to the Directors’ resignation, retirement, death and other
circumstances and to identify candidates in advance if necessary. The
Nomination Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each Director at the various
meetings of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set
out below:

EERRE

EZERZEREER
BE202043A31ALFE - RESHRARAZHEE
HZERHETSHEIMT

Annual

general Audit Remuneration = Nomination

meeting Board  Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director EEpE BRRBFAE Exg ERZEE FWEEE REEEE
Mr. Hu Xingrong HAEER A 11 25/25 — 313 313
Mr. Huang Xiaohai EEGLE 11 25/25 — 3/3 3/3
Mr. Jin Jianggui SITHELE 0N 25/25 — — —
Mr. Li Zhenyu FIRFEE 0N 25/25 — — —
Mr. Xu Haohao(") HREZFED 0/0 20/20 — — —
Ms. Pau Yee Ling FIRE L T 11 25/25 3/3 3/3 3/3
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BENEE 11 25/25 3/3 3/3 3/3
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po REREE 0/ 25/25 3/3 3/3 3/3
1) Mr. Xu Haohao was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 30 July (1) BREREER201957A0REZEAARAIMITEZRR

2019 and as the CEO of the Company on 2 September 2019.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 which gives a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2020, and of the consolidated financial performance
and cash flows for year then ended. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board has
selected appropriate accounting policies, applied them consistently
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants which are
pertinent to its operations and relevant to the consolidated financial
statements, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable, and ensured the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on the going concern basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance, position
and prospects. The interim and annual results of the Company are
announced in a timely manner within the limit of two months and three
months, respectively, after the end of the relevant periods in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for preparing all
information and representation contained in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration paid/payable
to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and its affiliated firm is set out as

REM
BE2020F3A31BIEFE - B R

EKFM(E
B)EHMEBMERARREBB LR M &M

follows: T
Services rendered FriR AR %S Fee paid/payable
Bt/ ENER
HK$'000
FAT
Audit of consolidated financial statements BERR AV HRE 1,600
Interim review services B RAAR % 150
Other services H b A% 619
2,369

Other service fee include (1) the major transaction relating to the
proposed acquisition of the Japanese company, and (2) annual tax
services for the year.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the design
and implementation of internal controls and risk management which
covers financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk management
of the Group, as well as continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such
internal controls and risk management. The Board has delegated such
responsibility to the management of the Company. The management,
under the supervision of the Board, has established an on-going
process for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced
by the Group.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk management
that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit
Committee also considers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function, as well as their training programmes and budgets.

(a) the process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.
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Risk Assessment

J Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

J Considers the impact and consequence on the
business and the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response

o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk
and ensures that appropriate internal control processes
are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal

control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

the main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure compliance
with relevant laws, rules and regulations; ensure proper
maintenance of accounting records for provision of reliable
financial information used within the business or for publication;
and to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement, loss or fraud.
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(©)

(d)

an acknowledgement by the Board that it is responsible

for the risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing their effectiveness. It should also explain that
such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing their
effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk management
of the Group and endeavours to identify, control impact of the
identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated
mitigating measures. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failures to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

the process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to resolve
material internal control deficiency

The Company establishes an internal control team to review
the risk management and internal control systems of the
subsidiaries of the Group which were established in the People’s
Republic of China. The results and findings were presented to
the Board and Audit Committee for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board has also engaged an external risk management
and internal control review adviser (the “Adviser”) to conduct
the annual review of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group as a whole for the year ended 31 March
2020. Such review is conducted annually and cycles reviewed
are under rotation basis. The scope of review was previously
determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser has
reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management. The Board/Audit Committee are
of the view that there are no material internal control deficiency
noted. All recommendations from the Adviser are properly
followed up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Board therefore
considered that the risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate.
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the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential
inside information being captured and confidentiality of such
information being maintained until consistent and timely
disclosure are made in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The policy regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information, which includes:

J Designated reporting channels from different operations
informing any potential inside information to designated
departments;

o Designated persons and departments to determine

further escalation and disclosure as required; and

o Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons
and respond to external enquiries.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system in place
covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions for the
year under review and up to the date of issuance of the annual
report is reasonably effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged in a service contract with an external
service provider, Ms. Ho Wing Yan (“Ms. Ho”), who was appointed
as the Company Secretary. Mr. Cheng Haoliang, the chief financial
officer of the Company is the primary corporate contact person of the
Company with Ms. Ho.

Being the Company Secretary, Ms. Ho plays an important role in
supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow within the
Board and that the Board policies and procedures are followed. Ms. Ho
is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters
and should also facilitate induction and professional development of
Directors. During the reporting period, the Company Secretary has
complied with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a Special General Meeting
(“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), registered Shareholders holding
not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company (the
“SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request to convene a SGM
at the registered office of the Company (the “Registered Office”), which
is presently situated at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda. The SGM Requisitionists must state in their request(s)
the objects of the SGM and such request(s) must be signed by all the
SGM Requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more of the SGM Requisitionists.

The Share Registrars will verify the SGM Requisitionists’ particulars in
the SGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from the
Share Registrars that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in order, the
Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene a SGM by
serving sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance
with all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the
contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the
SGM Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome and a SGM will not
be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM
if within twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’
request, the Board does not proceed duly to convene a SGM provided
that any SGM so convened is held within three (3) months from the
date of the original SGM Requisitionists’ request. A SGM so convened
by the SGM Requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by the
Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at a General
Meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the registered
Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (the “Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such
registered Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give
to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next general meeting
notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended
to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled
to receive notice of the next general meeting any statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.
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The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not
less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting
in the case of any other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called
for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited,
the requisition though not deposited within the time required shall be
deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, or call its
customer service hotline at (852) 2980 1333.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The annual general meeting provides an opportunity for shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The chairman of the Board and
the chairmans of Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee had attended the 2019 AGM of the Company
held on 26 July 2019 to answer shareholders’ questions.

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make enquiries
through the Company’s website and by means of emails to the investor
relations department (email address: ir@msil.com.hk). The management
always provides prompt responses to any such enquiries.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that our employees, customers and suppliers
and business associates are key stakeholders to the Company’s
success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging
our employees, providing quality products and services to our
customers, collaborating with business partners (including suppliers
and contractors) to deliver quality sustainable products and services
and supporting our community.
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The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which sets out the appropriate procedure on declaring and
recommending the dividend payment of the Company. The Company
takes priority to distributing dividends in cash and shares its profits with
the shareholders of the Company. The dividend distribution decision
of the Company will depend on, among others, the financial results,
the current and future operations, liquidity and capital requirements,
financial condition and other factors as the Board may deem relevant.
The Board may also declare special dividends from time to time. The
Dividend Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s bye-laws during the year. The
Company’s bye-laws is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

By Order of the Board
Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 June 2020
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Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is pleased to
present our annual Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
report for the year ended 31 March 2020 (“ESG Report”), to provide
an overview of the Group’s management of material environmental and
social matter.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report illustrates the Group’s initiative and performance
regarding the environmental and social aspects during the reporting
period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 (the “year”).

REPORTING SCOPE

This ESG Report covers all subsidiaries of the Group in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") (including Hong Kong) with core
business that principally engaged in the development, sales, leasing
and management of properties. The new serviced apartments in
Chongqing that were under the final testing process, and the newly
acquired property management business led to the change of scope
in the ESG Report as compared to last year. The Group will continue
identifying and assessing the impacts on major ESG aspects of its
business and to include them in the ESG Report.

REPORTING BASIS

The ESG Report is prepared with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide
set out by Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. The Group has complied
with the disclosure requirements of the “comply or explain” provisions
set out in the ESG Reporting Guide. Certain key performance indicators
(“KPIs") which are considered as material by the Group during the year
are disclosed in the ESG Report. The Group will continue to optimise
and improve the disclosure of KPIs. The ESG Report is prepared and
published in both English and Chinese. In the event of contradiction or
inconsistency, the English version shall prevail.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group values input and feedback of its stakeholders as they have
substantial contributions to the Group and bring potential impacts to
the Group’s business. Internal and external stakeholders have been
involved in regular engagement activities to share views regarding

ERNEE 2R

AEEEREERARENRAREE  BARFHA
SEERAR ARAREXGSRELTE - AEK
SNEPESIEEEC2REHAY  MARBEERKR
BRER - TRERASEIZRSMAENOHR - U

the Group’s operations and performances. The following table MR EMBRERESHE y KEEREE

provides an overview of the Group’s key stakeholders and the various
communication channels used to reach and listen to their expectations:

Stakeholders Engagement channel Concern issues
EEERE SHERE 2)eg
Government Departments and Regulators —  On site visits and chats — Compliance with law and regulations

— Work conferences, work togetheron  —
research and discussions

— Company website feedback
BFEEPT R B E — BEMHEEREHR —

— TFEERMAIE —

—  QRRASu IS —
Shareholders and Investors — Annual general meeting and —

shareholders meetings —
— Annual report and announcements
— Newsletters —
— Investor meetings and road shows
BRREBAE — BRBEASRBRAR —
— i#b’z&”i —
—  RAEEE —
— REEFSHEHNMEKE
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Government planning on promoting

regional economic development and
employment

Proper tax payment

BERRER
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HOEM

Return to the shareholders
Information disclosure and
transparency

Protection of interests and fair
treatment to all shareholders
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RIR - HEREREE

Stakeholders Engagement channel Concern issues
ERERE SRRE BIsE
Employees — Staff orientation — Salary level and other welfare of
— Internal training, briefing and employees
appraisals — Working environment and occupational
— Intranet and emails safety
— Newsletters — Training and self-actualisation
— Anti-discrimination
E& — BB —  FBOKT R EAME S BT
—  REBEI - R Rz — I{ERBERBELRE
— NERENER — BIRERER
— RAEEA — FribsaR
Customers — Company website feedback, — Safe and high-quality products and
brochures distribution and annual services
report — Stable and trusted relationship
— Customer feedback and service — Information transparency
hotline — Business ethics
— Feedback forms — Integrity
®F — REMIAEEE - NMEFRER — RERREEERLRS
— RPERERBEE — BELAEBE
— ER&RK — BHERE
— BXRBE
— #fE

Suppliers and Business Partners

RESE A

Industry Associations

TR

— Business meetings, supplier
conferences, phone calls and
interviews

— Review and assessment meeting

— EBes HERERE  BEkTD
2
S

— BERTEEE

— Industry conferences and meetings
— Site visits

— EREREREH
— EHRE

— Stable and long-term relationship

— Information sharing

— Good quality control

— Mitigate transaction risk in every
aspect

— BEREOBE
— HFER
— EHEER
— BEESHEOZIER

— Knowledge sharing

— Fair competition

— Professional standard development
— A#EHE

— ATBTF

— EXRERR
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Stakeholders Engagement channel Concern issues
ERERE SRRE BIsE
Financial Institutions — Communications with relationship — Update compliance with law and
managers regulations
— Consultation and regular meetings — Information disclosure
— Reports — Market information update
BIisHIE ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ‘ BHETED FOERBER
ﬂl:l r@&ﬂiﬁ E:u?x EREE
W& M5 EMER
Media Company website Improve our communication channel
Media conferences and mitigate risk
Announcements Enhance our corporate image
] YNGIFERT BEBBRENRERR
iR RITCEVE
S

General Public and Communities

AR R

Volunteer work of our staff
Charity activities and social
investment
Announcements

The Group will continue to keep close communication with its
stakeholders to share and exchange ideas for advancing the Group’s

ESG management.
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STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group is committed to continuous improvement of its ESG
management. Please give your suggestions or share your views with us
via email at ir@msil.com.hk.

A.

Environmental

The Group pays significant attention to protect the environment
and is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and community in which it operates. The Group is
endeavoured to fully comply with local environmental protection
rules and regulations to ensure its business operations meet the
required environmental standard. The Group stringently controls
its emissions and resources consumption in all their operating
regions throughout their daily operations. All operating regions
of the Group have implemented effective energy conservation
measures to minimise the environmental impact, such as raising
the environmental awareness, using resources responsibly, and
managing waste efficiently.

A1l: Emissions

The Group strictly complies with national and local laws
and regulations related to environmental protection
and pollution control, including but not limited to the
followings:

— the PRC Environmental Protection Law;

— the PRC Law on Water Pollution Prevention and
Control;

— the Law on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution of the PRC; and

— the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste.

— the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong
Kong;

— the Noise Control Ordinance of Hong Kong;

— the Water Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong
Kong; and

— the Wastes Disposal Ordinance and Public
Health and Municipal Services Ordinance of
Hong Kong.

RIR - HEREREE

ERHEESR
AEEBNBERELRE HEREREE - XX

MEMRERBEIDZER  FEBAHRMWEB U
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RIE - HERERRE
During the year, the Group was not aware of any

material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations related to environmental

AEE  AEBITNBEMERNER
FTETERRRERNERNEE -

protection.
A1.1: Air Emissions ALl ZERTRYEH
During the year, vehicles of the Group consumed petrol AFEE  AEEEHARAEEEREKR
for local travelling of management of the Group and ERPEMERBEE D EERAL
guests, which contributed to the emissions of nitrogen ?(INOL 1) ~ BEAALM (SO, |) KA F
oxides (“NO,”), sulphur oxides (“SO,”) and particulate (TPM]) B BERR
matter (“PM”)
Major air pollutants emissions from vehicles during AEFER019FHESHFEZERER
the year and the corresponding period in 2019 are as BAYBEESIAT
follows:
Air Pollutant Emissions
ERISFYBER

Type of Air Pollutants Air Pollutant Emission (kg) Air Pollutant Emission (kg)
ERISRYER ERFAMHER(TR) EREAMHER(TR)

2020 2019
SO, 0.20 Nil

=
NOX 11.22 0.76
PM 0.85 0.09
A1.2: Greenhouse gases (“GHG’) Emissions Al2: JREREE(REREHFI

The GHG emissions from the operation during the year
and the corresponding period in 2019 are set out below:

GHG Emissions

REFK2019F MR HFES R
BERRE T

=
2

e

BERBHH

CO, equivalent emission CO, equivalent emission
Type of GHG emissions (tonnes) (tonnes)
BRERBHHER ZEtBE B () ZE i E R (M)

2020 2019

Scope 1 Direct emissions
HBE—EEHN 29.86 4.09
Scope 2 Indirect emissions (note 2)
&2 — A (P E2) 3,322.53 409.69
Total
st 3,352.39 41378
Intensity (tonnes/employee)
8 (W, E8) 15.24 6.78
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Note 1:

The calculation of the greenhouse gas is based on the “Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard” from greenhouse gas protocol.

Scope 1: Direct emissions from vehicles that are owned by the Group

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity
consumed by the Group

Scope 3: Other indirect emissions is an optional disclosure which mainly
related emissions that are not controlled by the Group

Note 2:

As the Group has moved to a new Hong Kong office during the year,
only 7 months of electricity usage were collected from the new office
premise, while the usage in the old office premise were included in the
rental fee (2019: collected 6 months of electricity usage record).

Hazardous Waste

During the year, the Group was not aware of any
hazardous waste disposal (2019: Nil).

Non-hazardous Waste

Major non-hazardous waste generated from the Group’s
office operation was paper waste. Total non-hazardous
waste generated by the Group during the year was 437
kg and its intensity per employee was 1.99 kg (2019: 75
kg and its intensity per employee was 1.23 kg).

Al13:

Al4:

BRI e RERERE

Ak

BEREBAEDARNRERERERAN XSS
RRERER]

&E—  AEEMRERNERMEREP

HE— - AREHEREENELREAM -
HE=  HRE AL IEAREE N EER
BB ER R -

Fifzte:
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AEEE123TR) -
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A15:

Al6:

Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group endeavours to identify sources of high
energy consumption, material consumption and
environmental pollution in its operations and implement
measures for improvement. Energy conservation
policies and procedures have adopted to mitigate
emission. Energy saving mode has been adopted in
the following aspects (i) all the computers, all electrical
power supply must be switched off when they are not
in use; and (ii) labels have been used to remind staff
for ways to conserve energy. The Group also regularly
checks and keeps maintenance of company vehicles
to ensure the vehicles are in their good form to reduce
emissions.

Waste Reduction and Initiatives

The Group aims to reduce generation of non-hazardous
waste (mainly paper waste) at source whenever
possible. The Group highly advocates paperless office.
A total of 1,215.00 kg paper was used for daily office
operation such as printing of document, contracts,
order forms, technical drawings and meeting notes
during the year (2019: 202.10 kg). The Group reduces
paper consumption by:

o Developing management software (i.e. Office
Automation System) to support establishment of
a paperless office;

o Using recycled paper;

o Adopting double-sided printing; and

o Maintaining printers, copiers, and fax machines

to avoid wastage of paper due to poor printing
quality.
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Use of Resources

Reducing energy use, reducing resources consumption,
and enhancing resources usage efficiency are the
Group’s principles in managing its use of resources.
The Group proactively seeks opportunities to enhance
resources usage efficiency. The Group closely
monitors the use of energy and water to alert the senior
management on ongoing performance. Appropriate
remedial actions are taken whenever necessary to
improve usage efficiency.

Energy Consumption

Energy consumption by the Group during the year and
the corresponding period in 2019 are set out below:

A2:

A21:

Energy Consumption

RIR - HEREREE

BRER
RMPBERER BB REELEAE

RERMERLNASEEELERERA
RA - AEEREGESIHKE  RAER
ERME - REBTY)SEERER K
K- EhaRERABRERT LM
Bt o RERSTRHRERER  KE
ERME -

GENRHFE
AEE R 2019F HESR RS R
N

BEREAE

Energy consumed Energy consumed

Type of energy (kWh) (kWh)
RERER RRHEER(TRE) &RERE(TRE)
2020 2019

Unleaded petrol EiS T ha 98,971.40 14,722.00
Purchased electricity (note) BB (PfT=F) 4,699,990.00 628,076.00
Total st 4,798,961.40 642,798.00
Energy intensity (KWh/employee) 8EIRIEE (TELE (ES) 21,813.46 10,537.67

Note: please refer to note 2 of section A.1.2: GHG Emissions for
further details.

Water Consumption

The Group consumed freshwater supplied by the
municipal freshwater supplier. Water is mainly
consumed for general operation. There was no issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Water consumption
of the Group during the year was 47,978 m3 and its
intensity per employee was 218.08 mé. (2019: 3,900 m?
and its intensity per employee was 63.93 md).

Note: As the Group has moved to a new Hong Kong office during
the year, only 7 months of water usage were collected from
the new office premise, while the usage in the old office
premise were included in the rental fee (2019: collected 6
months of electricity usage record).

A22:

st FHEE2MA2 RERBHR—HITE
20

Ak
RNEBEETBUAKMERFIREHN %K
Ko BKEERAN—RERE - BIREB
AARE > WETABE - AFE > K
EEMAKERATIT8IH K BEA
218.083 5K, /1EE (20194 : 3,9003L
FK - 8EA63.93 K EE) o
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A2.3:

A2A4:

A2.5:

A3:
A3 1:

Energy Usage Efficiency Initiatives

The Group controlled lightings and temperature of air
conditioners to reduce electricity consumption. During
the year, energy saving mode was set for all computers,
energy efficiency was considered when purchasing
electric appliances, power supplies were switched off
while leaving, air conditions were set at 25.5°C.

Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group encourages water conservation and reduces
water wastage through inspections and maintenance
of the water supply. Reminder and notices were posted
to encourage water saving. Water saving taps were
installed in pantry to further saving water.

Packaging Materials

The Group did not generate any packaging materials
during the year due to its business nature (2019: Nil).

The Environment and Natural Resources
Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

The Group raises staff’'s awareness on environmental
issues through education and training and enlist
employees’ support in improving the Group’s
performance, promote environmental awareness
amongst the customers, business partners and
shareholders and support community activities in
relation to environmental protection and sustainability
and evaluate regularly and monitor past and present
business activities impacting upon health, safety and
environmental matters. With the integration of policies
mentioned in sections “A1: Emissions” and “A2: Use of
Resource”, the Group strives to minimise the impacts to
the environment and natural resources.
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Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

The Group stringently complies with national and
local laws and regulations concerning employment
and labour practices, including but not limited to the
followings:

. Labour Law of the PRC;

o Labour Contract Law of the PRC;
o Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors;
o Law of the PRC on the Protection of Disabled

Persons; and

o Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child
Labor.

o Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong;

o Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of
Hong Kong;

o Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong; and

o Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance

of Hong Kong.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare had been identified during the
year.
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Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group abides by the Labour Law of the PRC and
provides social insurance, subsidies, holidays and
other welfare according to the statutory requirement.
Employment contract terms are stipulated under the
principles of fairness, voluntarism, mutual consent,
integrity and credibility. The Group provides employees
with competitive compensation, holiday benefits and
discretionary bonus. Salary adjustment is performed
annually according to the work performance of
individual employee and the market trend. Employees
are entitled to annual leave, marriage leave, maternity
leave, paternity leave, medical insurance and retirement
benefit schemes.

During the year, no material non-compliance in
relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods and other
benefits and welfare was recorded.

Equal Opportunity

The Group provides equal opportunities for employees
in respect of recruitment, job advancement, training
and development, etc. Employees are not discriminated
against or deprived of such opportunities on the
basis of race, nationality, religion, physical condition,
disability, gender, pregnancy, sexual orientation, political
status, age and any other discrimination prohibited by
applicable law. Employees shall not act in discriminatory
manner or they can be subject to disciplinary actions.
No material noncompliance in relation to relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company regarding equal opportunity, diversity and
anti-discrimination was recorded during the year.
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Total Employees and Turnover

Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees by
gender, age group, employment type and geographical

region as at 31 March 2020 and 2019:

BRI e RERERE

BERERKE

20204F 20193 A31 BIZIERI ~ F
HE - EERERREER NS SNES
BRI T

2020 2019
Number of Number of
staff % of total staff % of total
1HEEE 1HEEAE
EI¥A Bk ETHHE Btk
By gender gl
Male Bk 119 54 39 64
Female 7t 101 46 22 36
Total 4BeT 220 100 61 100
By age group RERA
18-25 18-255% 29 13 5 8
26-35 26-355% 83 38 23 38
36-45 36-455% 60 27 17 28
46-55 46-555% 35 16 9 15
56 or above 565Ra A £ 13 6 7 11
Total HBet 220 100 61 100
By employment type RESER
Contract or short term B 16 7 — —
Normall — 117 53 — —
Middle H 59 27 — —
Senior 2E 28 13 — —
Total fast 220 100 — —
By geographical region  tEE
PRC H 198 90 45 74
Hong Kong B8 22 10 16 26
Total Foa 220 100 61 100

REBBERAR/ —B-2FFH



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI B RERERE

46

B2:

Below is a detailed breakdown of our employee turnover
rate by gender and age group during the year and the
corresponding period in 2019:

AEE R2019F H R HRL MR R F
B DMEBREEFAAMET W
T

2020 2019
Turnover rate by gender RUERIBDHRAE
Male B 50% 56%
Female hegis 44% 86%
Turnover rate by age group RERAEIDHRAE
18-25 18-257% 55% 160%
26-35 26-355% 54% 70%
36-45 36-455%, 37% 35%
46-55 46-55%%, 34% 100%
56 or above 5613 A L 62% 29%

There were total 103 employees left the Group during
the year (2019: 41 employees).

Employee Health and Safety
Occupational Health and Safety

The Group has been maintaining a harmless, non-
hazardous, healthy and safe working environment.
Employees are required to participate in regular
fire drill. All employees should be familiar with the
locations of safe exit, fire alarm and fire equipment. In
addition, all employees in PRC are entitled to social
security benefits. The Group has formulated different
contingency plans to handle different emergency
situations.

During the development of our property, safety
environment shall be maintained jointly by contractors,
sub-contractors and their employees and must comply
with applicable local, national laws and rules, health
and safety legislation and recognised codes and
standards. Site-specific conditions and rules developed
with the consideration of all significant hazards and
their risks, and other items which are important for
the safe and efficient operation of the project must be
strictly complied and disclosed. The safety and quality
of properties are monitored at all stages of construction
by the Group to ensure that they meet the highest
standards. This entails a dedication to stringent product
safety standards and a focus on health and safety
issues in property development practices.
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During the year, no work-related fatalities and lost days
due to work injury was recorded. Also, the Group was
not in violation of any laws and regulations in respect
of the provision of safe working environment and
protecting the employees from occupational hazards
that have a significant impact on the Group during the
year.

Development and Training

People are the most treasurable assets of the Group.
Investing in people is one of the Group’s focuses and
a key factor contributing to the Group’s continuous
growth. The Group provides comprehensive training
and development opportunities to all level of its
employees including orientation training, on job related
training and department specific training.

The Group arranges trainings according to needs of
employees, which are identified annually by individual
departments.

Labour Standards

In compliance with the employment contract, the
Group’s regulations and policies, the Labour Law,
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and other
related national laws of the PRC and Hong Kong, there
was no child labour nor forced labour working in the
Group. The job application requirement specifies that
job applicants must be at least 18 years old. To ensure
that job applicants can meet the age requirement,
identities of job applicants are verified against their valid
identity documents, relevant permits and certificates.
The human resources department is required to carry
out background checks to authenticate information
provided by job applicants and is required to fill in
forms that confirm hired employees have met the age
requirement.

Besides internal monitoring process, contractors are
also subject to stringent requirement on the Group’s
labour standard, no child labour and forced labour can
be tolerant in all the Group’s development projects.

No non-compliance in relation to laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company
regarding prevention of child and forced labour was
recorded during the year.
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Bb5:

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

As a property developer, the Group actively engage
with suppliers, contractors and sub-contractors on
construction projects. The Group recognise contractors
and suppliers are key stakeholders within the supply
chain. The Group has well established tendering
policy to select and manage its supply chain. Potential
suppliers are evaluated in terms of its production
capability and their track record on environmental and
social responsibility. The Group endeavour to exert
a positive influence on our suppliers by working and
communications. To mitigate the supply chain risk, the
Group evaluate their performance regularly.

Equipment or materials are purchased based on
specifications, quality and safety performance of
equipment, reputation, after-sales service and delivery
time of the supplier on construction projects. The
Group compares different suppliers to select qualified
suppliers (based on their product specifications,
product compliances, production management, quality
management and also corporate social responsibility
performances) before the Group enters into contract
with the qualified suppliers.

Thus, we believe there are no significant environmental
and social risks for our management decision on supply
chain management during the year.
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Product Responsibility
Product Assurance and Recall

The Group sets high standards for ensuring property
development projects to deliver quality product and
services to the customers. Product quality is controlled
throughout the whole construction process and ongoing
management and maintenance. The subsidiary of the
Company, Chongging Kingstone Land Co. Ltd* (&
SEREMARAT), who is responsible of the Group’s
property development in Chongging, has obtained an
award of “20197 Bl (b +K[E Oanh® " for the quality
product delivered to the customers and consumers in
year 2019.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has complied with laws and regulations that
related to the Patent Law of the PRC and the Trademark
Law of PRC. To protect third party intellectual property
rights and comply with relevant licensing terms when
software is used, employees are prohibited from
duplicating, installing or using software in violation of
its copyright or license terms as part of the Group’s
information security policy and staff handbook. Use
of free software products is stringently controlled; and
making copies of copyright works is strictly prohibited.

Customer Data Protection

The Group manages information in a systematic
approach. The Group has developed a policy on
customer data control and a procedure on control of
information assets. Employee handbook has stated
electronic communication system usage policy to
provide guideline on managing data and information.
The Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong
office is strictly complied. Sending of private email to
customers is strictly prohibited, all customer information
should restricted under the domain of the company
email. All staff are requested to logout their computer
system and close down their computer network after
work.

B6:

RIR - HEREREE

EmAT

EmET LA

AEERLHEE  BROFEZREAR
REFPRHEBEERNRY - EmAE
ENEERTBEURSEEERRE
BEPXEE - 20195 - GEREER
BEENMERERNACANBAREE
SREWBARRR  BEXNTEFR
HEENBEEMMME] 2019+ Bt
FTRELOMRIE] -

HHER

AEECETARTEZNEARTER
BARERERZER - RRESE=FA
AUEEHE X P A R NI B 8 < AR R R AR M
7o EBENBER  RRIERERE
RS RGN E ST - WWIAREE
ALE2BENMEIFME—#2 - &R
REUHERZBERITH  TELER
R °

BPEERE
REBURGEHTAEREN - AEE
EHEEFPREERRRNREREES
ERF - BEEFHELETRERRE
BABE  RERBERERRHRES -
EEAMAEEBETEAEH (LB K
Bl - BEARPEALAES AT
FEMERNRRAIEBHEE - EETL
BRABHRENERALS - LERERT
Ve RIRR 1 S B A 45K

RABRERAT I —S-SEEH 49



50

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI B RERERE

To maintain network security, the Group has set up
firewalls, installed anti-virus software and implemented
interactive processing for password verification. Robust
support has been provided for network and servers
involved in major operations. IT department has set
restricted connections between office and commercial
networks to prevent unauthorised data use, export and

copy.

No non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group in relation to customer
data protection and privacy was recorded during year.

Product quality control

The Group exercise stringent control policies and
process on product quality throughout the entire process
from selection of project construction units to pre-
delivery final acceptance. The Group exercise rigorous
control on quality management to ensure construction
quality including material control, equipment selection,
sample quality testing, acceptance of sample, hand-
over approval process during the construction working
project.
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Anti-corruption

According to the Group’s anti-corruption policy, all
employees shall abide by the laws and regulations of
the PRC and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap.
21) of Hong Kong and shall not engage in any illegal
activities. Employees shall uphold the code of ethics,
advocate fair competition and act against bribery
according to the Group’s procedure manuals. Any
bribery, fraud, money laundering and embezzlement are
prohibited. Employees must not accept or request any
improper benefits including banquets, gifts, securities,
valuables and high-expenditure entertainment activities
from business partners, suppliers and merchants, etc.
The prohibition against the provision of anything of
value applies to all clients, suppliers, and any person
with whom the Group does or anticipates doing
business. Employment opportunities must not be used
as an inducement to anyone to act improperly so as to
obtain or retain as advantage in business. The Group
prohibits bribery committed by third parties acting on its
behalf. The Group mandates appropriate due diligence
on all such third parties, and the application of suitable
contractual terms and governance to reduce the risk
of bribery. The Group reserve the right to terminate its
relationship with an associated person who commits, or
is suspected to have committed bribery.

When there is any alleged case in violation of laws,
regulations, code of conduct or Group’s policies, the
Group will investigate and impose disciplinary actions
upon offenders after verification.

The Group complies all applicable laws on prohibiting
corruption and bribery of the PRC that have a significant
impact on the Company during the year. There was
no concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees during the
year.
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B8: Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group
is committed to understanding the needs of the
communities in which we operate. The Group strives
to develop long-term relationship with our stakeholders
and seek to make contributions to programs that have a
positive impact on community development.

Thus, the Group will constantly aware of the importance
to make contribution to the community such as

encouraging employees to dedicate their time and skills
to support the civil society.

The English name is for identification purpose only
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The directors (the “Director(s)”) of Man Sang International Limited
(the “Company”) herein present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Group is principally engaged in properties development and investment
which covers development, sales and leasing of properties and
property management services.

The principal activities of the Company’s major subsidiaries are set out
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating
segment is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion
on the Group’s future business development are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 and 7 and Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 8 to 12 of this annual report.

The capital risk management and financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are shown in notes 6 and 7 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights on
page 4 of this annual report.

Discussion on the Group’s environmental issues and compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company are contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on pages 33 to 52 of this annual report.

The Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers and
suppliers and business associates that have a significant impact on the
Company and on which the Company’s success depends are contained
in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 33 to 52
of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS EBR DK

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are setout ~ AEBEHZ2020F3 31 HIEF /& 7 EEHNAFRSE
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive ~ 74E 7 & B R M EM2ERRE
income on page 74 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the B Z@W A E2EsE £202053A31 8 FEE RN K
year ended 31 March 2020. MR o

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES Ao RS

The Company does not have any distributable reserve in accordance R EFE(1981F R AlE) ZIEXFE - 71202053 A
with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 as at 31 March 31BN A BT BRI AT 50k 2 B ( 20194 : &) o
2020 (2019: Nil).

Details of the distributable reserve are set out in note 41(jii) to the Al D EEEE 2 BN A BFEREHTEE41(i) -
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS IR A 88 1

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this B AREIRA[ BERAET 2] | —55 Mir A M RE M 348
annual report and in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, ~ BE&IN » AR BN E AT ET AR 7 -

no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during

the year.

54 Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2020



PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties under construction and
properties under development or held for sale of the Group during
the year are set out in notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the five customers of the Group
together accounted for 100% (2019: 100%), with the largest customer
accounted for approximately 51% (2019: 31%, as restated) of the
Group’s total revenue. The five largest suppliers/contractors of the
Group together accounted for 63% (2019: 73%, as restated), with the
largest supplier/contractor accounted for 30% (2019: 38%, as restated)
of the Group’s total purchases/construction during the year.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors of the
Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers during the year.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on pages 198 and
199 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Xingrong (Chairman)

Mr. Huang Xiaohai

Mr. Jin Jianggui

Mr. Li Zhenyu

Mr. Xu Haohao (appointed on 30 July 2019)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Pau Yee Ling
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po

In accordance with bye-law 86 of the Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Xu
Haohao will hold office only until the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s bye-laws, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire form office by rotation. Accordingly, Mr. Hu Xingrong, Mr.
Huang Xiaohai and Mr. Jin Jianggui shall retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has entered into any service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 13 to 15.

DIRECTOR’S MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE
SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company’s holding company,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of
the Company and the Director's connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company has been
entered into or existed during the year.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

The interests of the directors of the Company in competing business
that were required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as informed by the relevant Directors
were as follows:

Mr. Hu Xingrong (an executive director and the chairman of the
Company) is the chairman of the board of directors of Doof International
Holding Group Company Limited* (% 7B BB 2 A% @ ABR 2 &) (“Doof
Group”), a company established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) which principally engaged in the business of properties
development in the PRC. The Company is an investment holding
company whose subsidiaries are principally engaged in properties
development which covers development, sales and leasing of properties
in the PRC. Therefore, the business of properties development in
the PRC engaged by Doof Group (the “Excluded Business”) may be
regarded as being potentially competing (directly or indirectly) with the
Group’s business, and Mr. Hu Xingrong is regarded as being interested
in the Excluded Business.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board regularly assessed
its business development plan regarding new property projects and/or
acquisitions of other land reserves in the PRC. As at 31 March 2020 and
2019, the gearing ratio of the Group were approximately 7.94 times and
3.01 times, respectively. In the light of the deleveraging trend of property
developers in the PRC and international trade tensions affecting the
market sentiment, the Board decided to take a prudent approach
in business expansion to avoid over-gearing. The Company has no
present intention to commit itself to excessive capital requirements
whether through acquisition of property assets from Doof Group or
joint development with Doof Group on any new property projects, until
and unless the gearing ratio of the Group is restored to a reasonably
low level. As such, the Board is of the view that the risk of competition
between the Group and Doof Group is currently low.
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When the gearing ratio of the Group is restored to a reasonably low
level, the Board will reassess the situation and considered the non-
competition arrangement with Doof Group, including the implementation
of geographical delineation, differentiation in terms of business
focus and/or the signing of non-competition undertakings. Further
announcement(s) will be made regarding such arrangements as and
when appropriate.

Apart from Mr. Hu Xingrong, Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui and
Mr. Li Zhenyu (all being executive directors of the Company) are vice
presidents of Doof Group. To the best knowledge of the Company after
making all reasonable enquiries, Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui
and Mr. Li Zhenyu had no shareholding interest in Doof Group. The
Company was informed by Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui and
Mr. Li Zhenyu that they were merely maintaining their positions as vice
presidents of Doof Group in a non-executive nature.

The Group and the Excluded Business under Doof Group are managed
by separate companies with separate management and administration.
With the overseeing and supervision of the independent non-executive
directors of the Company, the Board is of the view that the Group should
be capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from, the Excluded Business of Doof Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme which was adopted
on 17 August 2012 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to provisions of Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
the Directors have taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were set
out below:

(a) long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ETERE

EERTRAREE RS - HEARORESF £
)587:9-)

R2020F3A31H » EENAR A E LM EE (%
FHRBEEO([FEHRBEG ) EXV I TR
F)zlm - HEROSESETEES () REEFLHE
BB XV BBETRESD T2 MEEBAALR A LA B
ERGAARAR(HRA])) (BIERIEEH KBS
BRKXESHEFEIRIERBIBRERAR) Y(b)
115 &5 I B 160 53526 H AL IEBIFT 8 & 50 M

gk (c )mﬁtmiﬁﬁlJMTﬁwLZtFE%FETT/\%%Lﬁﬁ%X
SRR (2R ) BN ANA T REA A2 #
BRABEIIMT -

() RELFEBRZFR

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each held

FisEBREEIGETZEEREE

Percentage of

the issued

share

capital of

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest Direct interest Deemed interest Total interest  the Company

EERRAERT

E=ps 5%/ BEHE ERER REREAER aEn Nzl

Mr. Hu Xingrong Interest in a controlled corporation —  1,197,921245  1,197,921,245 62.84%
(Note)
HHERSLE R sEER (M5E)

Note: These shares were directly owned by China DaDi Group Limited (“China
DaDi"), which is 100% owned by Mr. Hu Xingrong.
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(b)

long positions in underlying shares of the Company

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, none of
the Directors had, as at 31 March 2020, any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors have taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to
the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
company, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any arrangement

to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body

corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2020, substantial shareholders’ interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company,
other than the Directors, as recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:
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Number of ordinary shares

LEREE
Percentage of
the issued
share
Direct Deemed Total capital of
Name of Shareholder Capacity/nature of interest interest interest interest  the Company
ERRRS BT
RER A 5%/ BEHE ERER REREAER BER REBESL
China DaDi Beneficial owner 1,197,921,245 — 1,197,921,245 62.84%
(Note)
HEKH ERBAA (MzE)

Note: These Shares were directly owned by China DaDi, which is 100% owned by Mr.
Hu Xingrong.

The interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Company has not
been notified of any person (other than the director of the Company) or
entity had an interest or a short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules for securities transactions by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiries with all the Directors, they have confirmed
compliance with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed the
independence of all the independent non-executive Directors and is
satisfied of their independence.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee, which comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, has reviewed with the management
in conjunction with the auditor, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed the internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters including the review of
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Bye-law 166(1) of the Company’s bye-laws, the Directors shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attached to any of them.
Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.

The Company has also taken out and maintained Directors’ and officers’
liability insurance policy throughout the year, which indemnifies against
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by
the Directors in the execution and discharge of their duties.
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CHANGE IN DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change in
information of the Director during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up
to the date of this annual report is set out below:

Name of Director Details of changes

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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BiE FHRAIE13.51B(1) f§ - EZE2020F3 310 [H4F
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E=n RBHHF

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit Appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Sprocomm Intelligence Limited

since October 2019.

Save for information disclosed, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

Employees

The Group believes that Directors, senior management and
employees are the key to our success, their industrial knowledge and
understanding of the market enables the Group to maintain market
competitiveness. Thus, the Group provides competitive remuneration
package and benefits, and commits to create a harmonious working
environment without discrimination.

Customers

The Group provides high-quality and reliable service for customers, we
maintain the good relationship with existing and potential customers
to keep abreast of the market trend, which enables us to adjust
our operation and marketing strategies timely, it is critical for the
development and success for the Group. Meanwhile, we have no
material dispute with customers.

Suppliers

The Group maintains the solid and stable relationship with main
suppliers/contractors to ensure the product quality and plan progress.
The Group cooperates with its suppliers/contractors and closely
monitors its product quality, routine construction engineering and timely
settles for the completed works.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT ARERERE

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and ~ RIEARB ARG AHER » URSESHMAE R
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintaineda AFEANEEAESERETIEBHIL - ARF—FH
sufficient public float during the year and up to the date of this Directors’  #:#5 FmiREIG A Z R R ABEIRE -

Report under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BREERE

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’'s ~ RNR R ZRAME| S HRELG T BTN ERBELESRE
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to  Z 13X + EAR R B MARIRE IR IR Ik LR 2 57
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders. B fn o

AUDITOR ZEE

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3 531 B I FE 2 A MBRER D AEKT
have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited who retire and,  FI(&/&) @5 EBMER D RIE © (EkTR(FS)
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming ~ @:TEIEHAER A FERELTF A E RN EERRA
annual general meeting. FRELEXERE -
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 8 May 2020, Wenzhou Rongdong Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. CRMEREER AR A R) (“Wenzhou Rongdong”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Mr. Hu Shikuan and Ms. Zhang Tingting,
are the father and niece respectively of Mr. Hu, and are therefore
connected persons of the Company, pursuant to which Wenzhou
Rongdong conditionally agreed to acquire, and Mr. Hu Shikuan and Ms.
Zhang Tingting conditionally agreed to sell, the entire equity interest
in Wenzhou Junshang Decoration Co., Ltd.* GEME HEHER Q7))
(“Wenzhou Junshang”) at the Consideration of RMB1 (the “Acquisition”).

Upon completion of the acquisition, Wenzhou Junshang will become
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial
information of Wenzhou Junshang and its subsidiary, Wenzhou
Beichen Construction Co., Ltd.* &Nt RZZER A F) (“Wenzhou
Beichen”), a company established in the PRC with limited liability, will be
consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 June 2020

The English name is for identification purpose only.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HENHRE

o
Shi ne‘ZOing

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MAN SANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man Sang
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 197, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties under construction

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting
policies on page 106.

The key audit matter
BRETSE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

FRETEE

BRESEEREAMACERAE - RRYAFES
BUBHMRZEMNRAERCEE  WEFHEEELM
EERGAMBBRRRLABREEATRE - BT
SHNEFFREHERIER -
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F2HEAMBRRMT1BARFE106E 2 S5 K -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bz BT NNEERESEE

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of investment properties under
construction was stated at fair value of approximately HK$1,750,181,000
based on valuation performed by independent valuer, with a decrease
in fair value of approximately HK$28,302,000 recognised for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

M2020F3A31R » ERNBULERETHE  BAABEABZER
BEMEZREELNE1,750,181,0008 7T - SREE202063A31H1E
FRER N, EERL#128,302,000/87T °

We have identified the valuation of investment properties under
construction as a key audit matter because of their significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the involvement of significant
judgements and estimates made by the management of the Company in
assessing its fair value.
ENGEENBERRN S BEANSIRHERAEER BERAREREE
AEHEAHE LA - HRPE ST EERRENREN AERES S
I8 o

Our procedures were designed to challenge the
valuation process and reasonableness of the key
assumptions and estimates adopted in assessing the
fair value of investment properties under construction.
B BFDREAMERFARFEERRENE L
DA BEMMRAEERR LA 2 AR

We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input data
used in the valuation with reference to the recent market
transacted prices and internal business plans, together
with market and other externally available information.
BMBELZEHMHEXHBURNBELE - ERN
B REMINATRGER - DERGEMRBLE -
ERRRBAZUE AR -

We have also obtained understanding from
management of the Company on the latest development
plan and assessed if there is any material delays
and whether the Group had the relevant resources to
complete the project as expected.
RATERMARRERE TRLHTISERAS - KEF
fELSAEAEALR Uk BEEEEEEHEBER
VAIRTRHATCRC AR
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Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for sale

Please refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and
accounting policies on pages 108 and 109.

The key audit matter
BRETSE

AL E L EN R 2 T REFE
A2HRE TS RRM 19 R E108 R 1098 2 &5
& o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BNz BT ONEERESEE

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of properties under
development or held for sale amounting to approximately
HK$466,064,000 represented completed properties held for sale.
202053 A31H - HRF LFEL EYR 2 IRE(EA /5466,064,00078
7T AFHEREERIYE -

Management of the Company assessed the carrying amount of
properties held for sale according to the net realisable value of the
property units with reference to the valuation performed by independent
valuer, which involves significant degree of judgements and estimates.
EARIEEEREE L GEMETEREMSNYRET C TRRFET G
FELEMR CREE - B FREAHG R -

We have identified the assessment of net realisable value of properties
held for sale as a key audit matter because of their significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the involvement of significant
judgements and estimates made by the management of the Company.
ENGGaNBRRMEBEANSE ERARIEERBAELERHGK
fhst - MB P B ER{EL ENEN A SR HEBR AR ETFR -
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Our procedures were designed to challenge the
impairment review process and reasonableness of the
key assumption and estimates adopted in assessing
the net realisable value of properties held for sale.

KM RF AT ARERMARLFERELENR
R AR FERANERBRRLEFNAEREMR o

We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input data
used in the assessment in estimating the net realisable
value, including estimating selling expenses and
selling prices with reference to the local economic
developments, recent sales transactions of the Group
and other available market information.
RAUEEARNGEETZRFEMATE  TERR
BABBZAEN  BREMHHEERNINEE 122E
AEEER - BEEETHHEEXH REMARGEH
SEFL



Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Please refer to notes 20 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements
and accounting policies on pages 99, 100, 107 and 108.

The key audit matter
BRETSE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

ME - BERREAREREEERNE
BLRRE M REIMFE20 R 23 K599 + 100 ~ 107 &
108 B2 &FTHR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bz BT NAEERESEE

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets amounted to approximately
HK$720,724,000 (net of accumulated impairment loss of HK$11,347,000)
and HK$241,741,000 (net of accumulated impairment loss of
HK$4,576,000) respectively.

202053 H31H - W% - BERREREREEEZREESANR
720,724,000/ 7T (315 R HRERE 11,347,000/ 7T ) K& 241,741,000/ 7T
(3% RERIEE5184,576,00047T ) ©

Management of the Company assessed the impairment of carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
according to the respective recoverable amounts with reference to the
valuation performed by independent valuer, which involves significant
degree of judgements and estimates.
BERRIEEBREBGEMETHEMSNS BT ERESETEYE
i kA R R EC FREERIE - 0 RERHE R fhEt -

We have identified the impairment of the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets as a key audit matter because of their
significance to the consolidated financial statements and the involvement
of a significant degree of judgements and estimates made by the
management of the Company in assessing the recoverable amounts.
ENHEAUNBEREAMEBEAR ERRERBRIELEAHEN R
DEHE AT IRE S8 - SRMEBYE - BERREAREREEERER
BlRRARE=E -

Our procedures were designed to challenge the
impairment review process and reasonableness of the
key assumption and estimates adopted in assessing
the recoverable amount of construction in progress
included in the property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets.

M2 RFE L ARERMBRE LN FHETADE -
BELRREAREREEEZERTIRZZ AN SRR
RHBRERRRANAIEEE -

We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input data
used in the assessment in determining the recoverable
amounts by reference to the external and internal
source of information.
RMEEALZINER A ER KIRETE 7K@ &R
EFRATE  T2BRREBAREZAEE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we concluded that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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REMBEFEUBERAAR2ERE

#fIz B RAHERAMBHRR(EAEE) RS AR
AP R aR M AR 2 (M EAHRRAEG A E%E -
WHABRRMAER ZBENRE - HHREERER
AARNGERHEZZBGERER BTHEARE)
W - BRI RERNBEME N - RAT SR AR
HEABRAEAEMALE FSFEEREERES - &
BRERRKTEE  BTRRERE SR LS
TZBAEX - ERERMAFHERBREER - FRR
AR RRFFRIRREL - WER R BRAESERIER
TAFEFRERBEATEAUBIMRMEL BBERTE
B - RIS AEA SRR -

HAREEBEFENNTEAN I~ ZEST
BRETEREXHEG MR EREREE © R
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o conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: P06623

Hong Kong
22 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEakAtEZEBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
TEr FHET
Notes (Restated)
BisE (E51)
Revenue A 8 124,853 159,399
Cost of sales SHEM A (61,814) (97,890)
Gross profit eS| 63,039 61,509
Other income and gains, net HA WA R Sz 10 844 443
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries S R A 40 3,132 —
(Decrease) increase in fair value of BRARBEGTAERZ
financial asset at fair value through ERMEECAREE
profit or loss CRLA )3 22 (1,178) 7,520
Selling expenses HERS (13,619) (7,627)
Administrative expenses TR (74,782) (43,424)
Impairment loss on right-of-use asset EREEERERR (4,576) —
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BB REERE
equipment 518 (11,347) —
Decrease in fair value of investment HEEISEMENT
properties under construction BERD 18 (28,302) (30,438)
Finance income p TN 11 40 37
Finance costs BIRE AR 11 (98,306) (83,005)
Loss before tax BBt ATES IR 12 (165,055) (94,985)
Income tax expense Frsfim Y 13 (25,787) (33,991)
Loss for the year FREE (190,842) (128,976)
LOSS PER SHARE BRER
— basic and diluted (HK cents) — EARREE(B) 16 (10.01) (6.77)
Other comprehensive loss Hit2EEE
ltems that may be reclassified RIERBEEFT
subsequently to profit or loss: FEmIIEA -
Exchange differences on translation of BERINETS 2
foreign operations =R (113,664) (120,234)
Release of translation reserve upon HEKB A RRE D
disposal of subsidiaries bEE 4 8 40 (69) —
Total comprehensive loss for the year RRAES ABEFEA
attributable to owners of the Company > EEIREE (304,575) (249,210)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SmEPBIRRE

AT 31 MARCH 2020 7202043 A31H

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET FAET
Notes (Restated)
BizE (&%)
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment properties under construction — 7EFEIREWE 18 1,750,181 1,767,135
Property, plant and equipment YE BB MR R 20 720,724 661,113
Prepaid lease payments BATRETR 21 = 264,479
Financial asset at fair value through profit &R BEF ABZZ
or loss TREE 22 8,100 9,925
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 23 241,741 =
Intangible asset B EE 24 1,019 =
2,721,765 2,702,652
Current assets RBEE
Properties under development or held BEPYESIFELE
for sale Y 19 466,064 501,289
Trade and other receivables B 5 RE MR K 25 35,533 50,125
Amount due from a related company el —fRRAEE A BFIA 28 2,071 =
Cash and cash equivalents REeRERBE 26 1,376,409 163,818
1,880,077 715,232
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A0 BT IRFR 27 218,436 179,791
Amounts due to related companies eI BRE A BFIR 28 1,151 2,933
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHAaR 141,193 118,359
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 29 17,686 73,030
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 5,827 =
384,293 374,113
Net current assets RBEETHE 1,495,784 341,119
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE 4,217,549 3,043,771
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REPBRR K

AT 31 MARCH 2020 7202043 H31H

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Notes (Restated)
b= (&51)
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFEHARE 32 1,002 7,336
Promissory notes EEER 30 980,195 917,827
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 29 2,139,670 936,000
Unsecured borrowings from a director EFEMPEE 31 599,046 407,517
Lease liabilities HEa’ 23 27,155 —
3,747,068 2,268,680
Net assets BEEFE 470,481 775,091
Capital and reserves BEXR
Share capital [N 33 190,617 190,617
Reserves ] 279,864 584,474
470,481 775,091

The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 196 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 June

2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Hu Xingrong

AR

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERE R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 & Z=202043831H (- &

Attributable to owners of the Company

RARERAEL
Retained
PRC profits
Share Share Merger  Statutory Translation (Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
HE REER
hE  ROEE GfRE iR EXRE  (RaER) @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THx THAT THT T#x TR TR THT
(Noteii) (Note i)
(BraEin) (f&Ei)
Balance at 1 April 2018 ROBFARIR S 190617 446,244 - - 74,011 313429 1,024,301
Loss for the year (restated) FREE(ED) - - = = = (128,976)  (128,976)
Other comprehensive loss: Hth2EBE :
Exchange differences on BERNEE
franslation of foreign R ER(EH)
operations (restated) — — — —  (120,234) —  (120,234)
Total comprehensive loss for the FRZESE
year (restated) B (&5) - - = —  (120234)  (128976)  (249,210)
Transfer to statutory reserve EREATERE - = = 35 = (35) -
Balance at 31 March 2019 R201953A31A 24
(restated) EA(EF) 190,617 446,244 - 35 (46,223) 184,418 775,001
Balance at 31 March 2019 as BE27#2019F3F31
originally stated el 190617 446,244 — — (46225 184106 774742
Effect of adopting merger SR —EHI A GHER
accounting for common control BfEE FE
combination (note 39) (M7E39) - - - 35 2 312 349
Balance at 1 April 2019 (restated) 201954 410 2
(&%) 190,617 446,244 — 35 (46,223) 184,418 775,091
Loss for the year FRER - = = = = (190,842)  (190,842)
Other comprehensive loss: Eth2EER
Exchange differences on BERNERL
transation of foreign BEHEE
operations — — — —  (113,664) —  (113,664)
Release of translation reserve R ER B AR
upon disposal of subsidaries [l 5 Gl - - = = (69) = (69)
Total comprehensive loss for the
year EN2EEREE = = — — (113733  (190842)  (304,575)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

Attributable to owners of the Company
L 2N

Retained
profits
Statutory Translation (Accumulated
reserve reserve losses)
HE REEA
AERE  EXRE  (RAER) &zt
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000
TER TAR TAR TER
(Note i)
(&t

PRC
Share
capital

Share
premium

Merger

reserve Total

Bx  RitaR
HK$'000  HK$'000
TEn  TEn

B fE
HK$'000

TR
(Note ii)
(CopA)

RA-EH T EBA

Consideration paid for business

combination under common HEZRE

control (note 39) (Bf339) = = (545) = = = (545)
Transfer to statutory reserve EREETRE - — — 351 = (351) =
Capital contribution from prior HEEHTRRENE

shareholder of subsidiary DARIRETE

acquired under common control — — 510 — - — 510

Balance at 31 March 2020 R2020F3A318 2 &84 190,617 446,244 (35) 386 (159,956) (6,775) 470,481

Note: it

(i) Under the People's Republic of China (the “PRC”) laws and regulations, (i) BiEPEARLMBE([FE )EREED - RPEFRz Q7
companies registered in the PRC are required to provide for certain statutory BRET AERETREE  YRBERSEZ B ZEAENBHRE
reserve, which are to be appropriated from the net profit (after offsetting T 2 4R (B ST F 25T 1818 R A A D KR FIA) &
accumulated losses from prior years and before profit distribution to owners) as o SEEREEIEIRIETE B MR - PEATAEBE10% AT
reported in their respective statutory financial statements. The statutory reserve B EEREE - ERRIETHKBAERL EEMER0%
is created for specific purposes. The PRC companies are required to appropriate B+ ARANE LK o SEE R EE R AR E R RS
10% of their statutory net profits to statutory reserve. A company may discontinue BATERAGEEERIIENRBEATER o) PEAE
its contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory reserve is more than 50% REEES S OAEREAMFIDEATEFEE— ST -
of its registered capital. The statutory reserve shall only be used to make up losses
of the PRC companies, to expand the PRC companies’ production operations, or
to increase the capital of the PRC companies. In addition, the PRC companies
may make further contribution to the statutory reserve using its net profits in
accordance with resolutions of the board of directors of the PRC companies.

(i) The merger reserve as at 31 March 2020 represented (1) the difference between (i) R2020F3A31 8 2 At RfETE (1) AEEEE KRB A A
the carrying amount of net assets at the date when the Group and the acquired T Z s EETEREERAR(CINIZ% ) ENLREZEHA
subsidiary, Zhejiang Doof Property Management Services Co., Ltd* (‘41T %324 P EERAAERNIZHMN2020F10 A28 2 RBER B2
LEWREAFEADE") (“Zhejiang Doof”), become under common control and the RRZELER (2)A2019F4 8 - AIRE BB 4 ([#A%E4E])
purchase consideration for Zhejiang Doof on 22 October 2020 and (2) the capital EA AR 4675007t (HHE R 49510,000/87T) ©
contribution of RMB467,500 (equivalent to approximately HK$510,000) from the
prior shareholder, Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr Hu”), in April 2019.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HRERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FET
(Restated)
(E51)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Loss before tax BrEEAIE B (165,055) (94,985)
Adjustments for: #IFIBIBEL 2 A% -
Finance income BRI (40) (37)
Finance costs BIREPX 2N 98,306 83,005
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W - BE RS ETE 12,194 747
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 4,315 =
Decrease in fair values of investment properties ~ ERIZREMEALBE
under construction, net WA HER 28,302 30,438
Decrease (increase) in fair value of financial BARBEABREZEHE
asset at fair value through profit or loss EZRREERD (M) 1,178 (7,520)
Impairment loss on right-of-use asset FREEEREER 4,576 —
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - BE REEREBE
equipment 11,347 —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries e )N o)l (3,132) —
Loss on write-off of property, plant and M - BE REE
equipment wsHEE = 284
Operating cash flows before movements in BEES BRI L
working capital RERE (8,009) 11,932
Decrease in properties under development or TR E S EL EME
held for sale b 16,690 44,4583
Increase in trade and other receivables 2 5 & B A e AR g hn (1,949) (21,488)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables & 5 & ELAfi e ([ BEFRIE Hn
CRr) 55,581 (23,046)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING  &&FEEEEZRE
ACTIVITIES ik 62,313 11,851
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE  BEREE (103,587) (85,781)
Payment for additional construction costs of TRERBEEMEBINERRA
investment properties under construction (45,881) (67,376)
Purchase of financial asset at fair value through ~ BEE AL BETAER
profit or loss ZEMERE = (2,320)
Payment for acquisition of intangible asset INKEERL A E (1,019) —
Payment for common control business SRR 6 TR
combination &t (545) —
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARIRER N F5E
(note 40) (PfEE40) (4,659) —
Advance to a related company A —ERE D R (2,128) —
Capital contribution from prior shareholder of HREHEHIT U B B 2 Bl AIAR
subsidiary acquired under common control FEE 510 —
Interests received B IH S 40 37
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ARREEES RS FE (157,269) (155,440)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FAT
(Restated)
(2751)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
New bank and other borrowings raised MESRIRAMEES 1,362,500 49,260
Repayment of other borrowings EREMBEE (119,840) (121,075)
Interest paid on other borrowings HifEREAFE (115,547) (71,299)
Repayment to related companies BEENRFIA (2,797) —
Advanced from a related company RE—HEERRINER 578 2919
Unsecured borrowings raised from a director BEZER EHAAEE 198,014 391,214
Repayment of lease liabilities BRHESRE (5,363) —
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEABEMFE (3,235) —
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEETDEE AL TH 1,314,310 251,019
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERERRSEMFE
EQUIVALENTS 1,219,354 107,430
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FHZRERERRE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 163,818 55,431
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes xS E (6,763) 957
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHEEND HXzHE&RZFERE
OFTHEYEAR 1,376,409 163,818
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

GENERAL INFORMATION

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended). The addresses of its registered office and its
principal place of business are Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Unit WF, 25th Floor, Eight
Commercial Tower, 8 Sun Yip Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong,
respectively. The immediate holding company and the ultimate
controlling party of the Company is China DaDi Group Limited,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI")
and Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr. Hu”), the executive director of the
Company, respectively.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are currently engaged in the development, sales and
leasing of properties and provision of property management
services. Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
are set out in note 42.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group reported
net loss of approximately HK$190,842,000. As at 31 March
2020, the Group had total current liabilities of approximately
HK$384,293,000, including bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$17,686,000. As at the same date, the Group
also had capital commitment of approximately HK$82,077,000
(note 35(a)).

—RER

REBRBRERAG(TARAZRERE
I EREEN IR EBE R EFMALA
ERGERETAR - HAMHERREBLE
27 #13E 5 5l & Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11 » Bermuda & BB S5/&%
EH8 R EESDERE - ARAEEKE
BRAR RELEF A A ATFE R EEERA
AEREBRAHE ([RBELHS])FMK
) RIEESTE(HEE ] ARRHITESR) -

ARBBROREBEBHERZMERAA ([HBR
PR ) ER LT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In view of the above, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections covering a period
of twelve months from 31 March 2020 which have taken into
account the following measures.

M

Chongaing Kingstone Land Co., Ltd.* (EEEAE
AR A7) (“Chongging Kingstone”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has commenced the
sales of the properties which is expected to continue to
generate operating cash inflows to the Group;

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has
entered into agreements with the lenders to extend the
maturity date of the following facilities:

(a) Maturity date of promissory notes with
aggregate principal amount of HK$778,000,000
was extended from 28 July 2020 to 28 July
2021;

(b) Maturity date of unsecured revolving loan
facility of RMB500,000,000 equivalent to
HK$545,000,000, from Mr. Hu was extended
from 31 May 2020 to 6 July 2021;

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group made early repayment of other borrowing
classified as non-current liability of RMB723,000,000,
equivalent to HK$788,070,000;

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group made repayment of unsecured borrowings
from Mr. Hu classified as non-current liabilities of
RMB417,180,000, equivalent to HK$454,726,000; and

Following the repayment to the director, the Group still
has unutilised facilities provided by Mr. Hu amounted to
approximately HK$546,215,000.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group will have sufficient working capital to fulffill
its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the coming
twelve months from 31 March 2020. Accordingly, the directors of
the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

On 13 December 2019, Wenzhou Huiyong Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. * CEMNEXEHEMBER A E)
(“Wenzhou Huiyong”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, has entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with Wenzhou Doof Real Estate Group Co., Ltd* (&) %38
EEEBR Q) (“Wenzhou Doof”), a company which Mr.
Hu is the ultimate controlling shareholder, for the purchase of
its entire equity interest in Zhejiang Doof, a private company
registered in the PRC on 16 July 2018, for a cash consideration
of RMB500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$545,000).

The acquisition was completed on 5 March 2020, and Zhejiang
Doof has become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group since then. As Zhejiang Doof and the Company are
ultimately controlled by Mr. Hu, the acquisition of Zhejiang
Doof was regarded as business combination under common
control. The net assets of the combining entity or business are
consolidated using the existing book values from the controlling
party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of
goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of
acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities over cost at the time
of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation
of the controlling party’s interest. The adjustments to eliminate
share/registered capital of the combining entity or business
against the related investment costs have been made to merger
reserve in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. The
details of the restated balances have been disclosed in note 39.

As Mr. Hu became the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Group as stated in the Company’s announcement dated 22
October 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
financial position, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the prior
periods have been restated to include the operating results
of Zhejiang Doof as if this acquisition had been completed on
22 October 2018, being the earliest date when the combining
entity or businesses first came under the control of Mr. Hu.
Accordingly, the acquisition has had no impact on the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April 2018.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs, which include
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”), and
Hong Kong (International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee) Interpretation (“HK(IFRIC) — Int”), issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”).

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation
Amendments to HKFRS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

The adoption of HKFRS 16 resulted in changes in the Group’s
accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements as summarises below.

The application of other new and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(S)”) (CONTINUED)

3.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with
respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant changes
to the lessee accounting by removing the distinction between
operating lease and finance lease and requiring the recognition
of right-of-use assets and a lease liability for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low value assets. In contrast
to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting
have remained largely unchanged. Details of these new
accounting policies are described in note 4. Comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be reported
under HKAS 17 Leases.

On transition to HKFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the
practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which
arrangements are, or contain, leases. It applied HKFRS 16
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease
under HKFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered
into or changed on or after 1 April 2019.

The Group as lessee

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities
in relation to leases which had previously been classified as
‘operating leases’ under the principles of HKAS 17 (except for
lease of low value assets and lease with remaining lease term
of 12 months or less). These liabilities were measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 April 2019.
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
applied to the lease liabilities on 1 April 2019 was 9%.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets and measures them
at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3. ERMIREEITEBMKREERN(FE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS B EER ) (&)
(“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)
3.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) ARPBEBUBERELRFIFEENTE
(#&)
The following table summarises the impact of transition of TREAN2019F4 B1BBEE BB GRS
HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not affected by ERFE165E 2 2 - MEMART I AR E Y
the adjustments have not been included. IEH o
Carrying
amount Carrying
previously amount as
reported at 31 restated at
March 2019 Adjustments 1 April 2019
20195 #2019%
3A31HBE 4B1RE?S
R REE Fidkid ZEREE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE FET FHT FHET
Prepaid lease payments BNHEERIEA b 264,479 (264,479) —
Right-of-use assets ERERE a&b — 269,080 269,080
Lease liabilities HEEE adc — (34,032) (34,032)
Investment properties under ~ ERIREME
construction © 1,767,135 29,431 1,796,566
Notes: Wit
a. As at 1 April 2019, right-of-use assets in relation to leased premises a. R2019F4A18 « SITHENMBEMNEEERE
held for administrative purposes were measured at an amount equal to HENEREEERESNBRNE BN KRS
the lease liabilities of HK$4,601,000 upon initial adoption of HKFRS 16. HER|FE 165K 2 FHE B E4,601,0008 T2 £ 585t
Eo
b. Prepaid lease payments of HK$264,479,000 represent the upfront b. BN EFIE264,479,000/8 L5 B AT B E T
payments for leasehold lands in the PRC and were reclassified to right- MIBHFE - ENMHBAFEREEE -

of-use assets.

G As at 1 April 2019, right-of-use assets in relation to leased premises c. R2019F4 18 » i REERNFEAENERE
held for future rental purposes was included in investment properties EEHBNTREESEMACEEIREDE  WIER
under constructoin and measured at fair value at that date which THEB BB B DA BEX29,431,0008 T
approximately the lease liabilities of approximately HK$29,431,000. No B o NE XM B BN E RS B #TER
adjustment at the date of initial application was made to the opening PR o

retained profits.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group as a RiFRBREeRERA » AEB(ERAMA)ES
lessee is required to split rental paid under capitalised leases HFEAMBETENEEBEART D KF B
into capital element and interest element. These elements are D o REDRERER B S IERFE175 TR
classified as financing cash outflows, similar to how leases DEARMEHENHEENEEARNBUNARS
previously classified as finance leases under HKAS 17 were BARERESRY  MIEREEESERFE17
treated, rather than as operating cash outflows, as was the case SR A AR ETHENHENEIEH AU
for operating leases under HKAS 17. The total cash flows are FROEAREHESRH - MERSREI AT
unaffected. -7
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

3.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Differences between operating lease commitments as at 31
March 2019, the date immediately preceding the date of initial
application, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate,
and the lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019 are as
follow:

FER#ET KB BRMBHREE
MEHEED ) (/)

[= R P

AT &EE

SIRME BN BREENF1REENTE
(1#)

M2019F3A31 B (B E XA BHATE ) E
FRIEEEE R RELE AL ERIEER2019
FLA1BHRNHEEENZENT

HK$°000
TRT

Operating lease commitment disclosed as at 31 March

20193 A3 B ENELHE

2019 (restated) AIE(ES) 49,681
Less: Short-term leases with remaining lease term ended i : 82 FMHEAE £202093 43185,
on or before 31 March 2020 ZAIRMESEE (577)
49,104
Discounted using the incremental borriwing rate at 1 April 7201954 A1 B (£ 1L EE & F =
2019 and lease liabiltiies recognised as at 1 April 2019 BRIR K pA2019F4 H1 BRER 2 1
a6 34,032
Analysed as: DA
Current portion ViPEDE: Ay 3,861
Non-current portion FEREF D 30,171
34,032

Practical expedients applied

On the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group has
also used the following practical expedients permitted by the
standard:

o the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics.

the accounting for operating leases with a remaining
lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 April 2019 as
short-term leases.

reliance on assessments on whether leases are onerous
by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets immediately before the date
of initial application as an alternative to performing an
impairment review.

FIRE AR R THEE 7%
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to HKFRS Sale or Contribution of Assets
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business*

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Definition of Material®

HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform!
Conceptual Framework for Revised Conceptual
Financial Reporting 2018 Framework for Financial
Reporting’
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concession®
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of the new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.

Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2020

R REBTEBMBHREER(FE
MEHEED ) (&)

ST REBT BRI EH A RN BB RE
28]
AEMLEIER WA T RSB TR HE
R A B BT SR

BB s A RERE 42
E1758

BB s A REEBEBENF
FIRRBEE AR ECHNEE
SHERIF 8 2 HEkFES
EHIEN

EBE s A E S0k 3
FIR2EFTA

EBGHENEIR  EANTE
kEEEER
F8H 2 EFTA

BB s A PR B D g
F9% - HESE
HRIF395E R ES
TSR LRI E TR

ZIEEIAR

2018 F B S ISR TS R S AE
BatESR Y

BB REENF16 FRERRS -8
SR ZAERTAN e ERS

1 A20205F 1 A1 B sk 2 14518 2 FE IR AR

2 #20214F1 A1 B sk 8 5tA 2 G /& B A

3 RFFE B IS 2 12 Rt 2 FE AR AR

4 RS B 2350 20204F1 A1 Bl 2 (Rt E & [ FE
SRR AR EH A0 REE RN

5 7202096 A1 F 52 143t 2 PR AR
ARAIEREA > BT3RO - AR RE

ERTEAMBREEAR I EHARENEER
IBHRRELEATE ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for investment properties under
construction and financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”), which are measured at fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date under current market condition
(i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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90

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Group. If a subsidiary prepares its financial statements
using accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are
made to that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s
returns.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains

control of the subsidiary and cease when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests.

Allintra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including goodwill, if any) and liabilities of the
subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date when control is
lost; (ii) derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interests in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost (including any components of other comprehensive income
attributable to them); and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest, with any resulting difference being recognised
as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to the Group. When
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are carried at revalued
amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss
has been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets and liabilities (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred directly to retained profits as specified by applicable
HKFRSs).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs incurred to effect a business combination are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

J deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the business
combination are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes;

o assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee
benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree or the
replacement of the acquiree’s share-based payment
transactions with the share-based payment transactions
of the Group are measured in accordance with HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations (Continued)

o lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments as if the acquired lease was
a new lease at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are measured at an
amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income are recognised on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed
directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. During the measurement
period (see above), the provisional amounts recognised at
the acquisition date are adjusted retrospectively or additional
assets or liabilities are recognised as of that date, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses
in which the common control combination occurs as if the
combination had occurred from the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the control of the
controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the controlling
party’s perspective. No amount is recognised as consideration
for goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value
of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination,
to the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive
income includes the results of each of the combining entities or
businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date
when the combining entities or businesses first came under the
common control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of
the date of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities or businesses had
been combined at the end of the previous reporting period
unless the combining entities or businesses first came under
common control at a later date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

o Step 1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance

obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same. For
contracts that contain more than one performance obligation,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

o The Group's performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created
and enhanced; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of properties in the PRC is recognised at
a point in time when the control of the property is transferred to
the customer, generally when the customer obtains the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property and the
Group has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Revenue from provision of property management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due. A contract liability
represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has received consideration
from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Leasing (Accounting Policy applicable on or after 1 April
2019)

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the
Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Accounting Policy applicable on or after 1 April
2019) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Accounting Policy applicable on or after 1 April
2019) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a significant
event or change in circumstances resulting in a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option,
in which case the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using revised
discount rate.

o the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is
used).

J A lease contract is modified and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term
of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation
for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the
site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease,
provision is recognised and measured under HKAS 37. The
costs are included in the related right-of-use assets, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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100

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Accounting Policy applicable on or after 1 April
2019) (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for the right-of-use assets classified as investment
properties under construction and measured under fair value
model, right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. They
are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful
life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement
date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-
use assets that meet the definition of investment property are
presented within “investment properties under construction”.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use assets is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

Leasing (Accounting Policy applicable before 1 April 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between land and building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element of the lease
at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as prepaid lease payments in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that
are classified and accounted for as investment properties or
investment properties under construction under the fair value
model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment.
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102

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising
on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at
the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to defined contribution plans including state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries and annual leave in the period
the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of their assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties under construction
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment properties under
construction are depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
under construction over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax
assets for such investment properties under construction are
measured in accordance with the general principles above as
set out in HKAS 12 Income Taxes (i.e. based on the expected
manner as to how the property will be recovered).

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and
over the lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

4,

FESTEER(E)

BOE (%)
ELEHRARNREE T ERRASERHE H
REHB RS AELEERAREREE M
BYIHBER

RAEBREHRABENECHABEN S * M
AREEEAFENEERENE ZREETLR
RBBHERIRD - BIFZRRBED IR
oh e BHEEREMER THEMRAEBOER
B (EXBEMERRRMIBERHEBRE
BERENEMBENBADLENZ)ARE
B - BRARRESRED - MEBRRNER - &
BHERRENF CELRRR B ETHBEE
BIRIE EX BB SRR F1 2RSS — R
A (EMRERRME 2 EHRE TR E -

R EASERNETRAEAEEERARHEE
AREMHEERZELRE  AREYSEERE
BerRERENEREEEXHERR -

RBEHEKERNEERENHERSME A
SEDHUERREENEERERATES
RAF12RHRTE - ARNERT SRR L - B
EREEEIEERBNERZREL RN
BT R AR -

SV RGBT R IR 1R 2R R o

REEBERAT I —B-S5EEH 105



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

106

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties under construction

Investment properties under construction are properties held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment
properties under construction include land held for
undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for capital
appreciation purpose.

Upon application of HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019, investment
properties under construction include leased properties
recognised by the Group as right-of-use assets.

Investment properties under construction are initially measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties under
construction are measured at their fair values. Gains or loss
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties
under construction are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

Investment properties under construction held by the Group as
right-of-use assets are measured initially at cost in accordance
with HKFRS 16. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are
measured at fair value, which are the right-of-use assets, but not
the underlying property.

An investment properties under construction are derecognised
upon disposal or when the investment properties under
construction are permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the investment properties
under construction (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
investment properties under construction is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress as described below, are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production of
services are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs and amortisation of prepaid lease payments
capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

4,

FESTEER(E)

M BERRE

BT - ERTRAEINE - BB X
REETBRERTR)NG AR BIRRRIEK
RRER Rt E R ER RFHRERRE ()5
B o

HEANEEENNE  BERRB(TEEER
Ti2)RBRAERARE G AIERFRIE
HRAREFISHEE - Bt AIERFES - RIRE
EARFETENSRERRETR - EFME
ATEBY EORATEEEARR -

FRAERR L BRAS < PSR IR A AR (] HERR R
EERIE RABREXERLGLIAERE
EME ) REFASESHBEBEREAZEEK
ARBNREFFEE - ZFVERETRAH
ERERER A ERYE - BERRFEIEER
Bl - REFEERAREMYREERR < EERNE
ERHERE B MR E -

0% BELRERENHERRERATEH
HEAR {0 PR % A 7 T A AR SR A ) B BXOH
R - RN EIME - BiFE LRERE RE
MEL ZWREHERET /L EMSRAEZE
ERREEREE  WRNBEHR -

REEBERAT I —B-S5EEH 107



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

108

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Serviced apartments under development for future owner-
occupied purpose

When serviced apartments are in the course of development
for production or for administrative purposes, the amortisation
of prepaid lease payments provided during the construction
period is included as part of cost of serviced apartments under
construction.

Prepaid lease payments (Accounting Policy applicable
before 1 April 2019)

Prepaid lease payments represent up-front payments to acquire
land use rights under operating lease arrangement and are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated amortisation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties under development

Properties that are being constructed or developed for future
use as held-for-sales are classified as properties under
development and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses and the
anticipated costs to completion, or by management estimates
based on prevailing marketing conditions.

Development cost of property comprises construction costs,
borrowing costs capitalised and professional fees incurred
during the development period. On completion, the properties
under development are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
when the construction of the relevant properties commences.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises development costs attributable
to the unsold properties. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses,
or by management estimates based on prevailing marketing
conditions.

Intangible asset

Intangible asset with indefinite useful lives that is acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash at banks and on hand, banks deposits
with an original maturity of three months or less.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss, if any.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair values
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial asset at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

J the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continueq)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) excluding the expected credit
losses (“ECL"), through the expected life of the debt instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in
the “finance income” line item (note 11).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI") are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

J Investments in equity instruments are classified as
at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet amortised cost
criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not
part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “(decrease)
increase in fair value of financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss” line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 7(c).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, including other receivables,
amount due from a related company and cash and cash
equivalents, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12-month ECL, unless when there has a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) credit rating;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular debtor, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent
to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less
than its amortised cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument
has a low risk of default; (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and (i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of "investment grade"
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of "performing". Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or
J information developed internally or obtained from

external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credlit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

J significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial
assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16
(on or after 1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 (prior to 1 April 2019).

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or

when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets (except for investment
properties under construction and properties under
development) to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the net realisable value
of properties under development, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level2 ~— Valuation technique for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level3 — Valuation technique for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy
for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value
on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying the accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption involves
making judgements by the directors of the Company, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of events
and conditions which are inherently uncertain. The directors
of the Company believe that the liquidity of the Group can be
maintained in the coming twelve-month period from 31 March
2020 after taking into the considerations as detailed in note
2. The directors of the Company also believe that the Group
will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working
capital and other financing requirements for the next twelve
months from 31 March 2020.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying the accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties under
construction

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties under
construction that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
properties under construction and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties under construction are held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
under construction over time, rather than through sale. In
measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on such investment
properties under construction, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts
of investment properties under construction measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties under construction

Investment properties under construction are stated at fair
values in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. The
fair values of investment properties under construction as at
31 March 2020 and 2019 are determined by an independent
professional valuer, CHFT Advisory and Appraisals Limited
(“CHFT"), and the fair values of investment properties under
construction are set out in note 18. Such valuations were based
on certain assumptions and estimations, which were subject to
uncertainties and might materially differ from actual results.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair values of investment properties under construction
(Continued)

In making these assumptions and estimations, reasonable
consideration has been given to the underlying assumptions
based on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting
period. These estimates are regularly compared to available
market information for similar type of properties in nearby
locations.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of investment
properties under construction is approximately
HK$1,750,181,000 (2019: HK$1,767,135,000) with the
decrease in fair value of approximately HK$28,302,000 (2019:
HK$30,438,000).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for estimated unused tax
losses and other deductible differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. At 31 March 2020, deferred tax assets
have been recongised in respect of estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$6,341,000 (2019: HK$7,520,000).
No deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect of
remaining tax losses of approximately HK$90,426,000 (2019:
HK$108,704,000) and other deductible temporary difference
of approximately HK$141,193,000 (2019: HK$118,359,000).
The aggregate unrecognised estimated unused tax losses
and other deductible temporary differences at 31 March 2020
was approximately HK$231,619,000 (2019: HK$227,063,000).
Further details are set out in note 32.

FREHHENMT TREREZETERR
(%)

fhst A EEREE 2 T ERE(H)
HERENRZDABEGE)

REHZERB LG RC AR EBERR
R RERRARERRZREMRBKE © It
FhE TR ERBENEZ AIEH5ER
ELCE -

R202043A318 « EEIREMEZERENA
1,750,181,000/% 7T ( 20194 : 1,767,135,000/%
JT)  MARBERD#28,302,000% 75 (2019
£ : 30,438,000 7T)

ERHEEE

FEREMRE S A BRG] AR EHE TR
TRMERN  BEBBEESRABAMSE
BBERTNREERER - BEURREL
HMBEERZERERBRRERTRFN 27
BE B ) KT R R AR AR TS 43 B R B 1 B R )
B - M2020F3A318 @ BRtfdst ABAFHIELS
18496,341,0007 7T.( 20194 : 7,520,0005% 7T
BRELCHBEE - MEBMESB THIEBEEBY
90,426,000 7T ( 20194F : 108,704,000 7T)
R EL R $050 T B 1 2= B 49141,193,0008 7T
(20194 : 118,359,000/ 7T ) KR E B 1B & e
EEMER - R2020F3 A31H M ARMERME
APAREBEREGTNREREERES &£
49231,619,0005% 7T ( 20194 : 227,063,0007%
TT) o E—HHFIBENMIFE32 o

REEBERAT I —B-S5EEH 125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

126

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the
Group reviews the carrying amounts of the property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$720,724,000 (net of impairment loss of HK$11,347,000)
and HK$241,741,000 (net of impairment loss of HK$4,576,000)
(2019: the carrying amounts of the property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments of approximately
HK$661,113,000, net of impairment loss of nil and
HK$264,479,000, net of impairment loss of nil) respectively and
identified if there is any indication for possible impairment. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. In assessing whether there is any indication of
possible impairment for the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (2019: property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments), the Group has considered the
recoverable amounts with reference to the valuation performed
by an independent valuer. During the year ended 31 March
2020, impairment loss recognised in respect of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use asset were approximately
HK$11,347,000 and HK$4,576,000 respectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Net realisable value of properties under development or
held for sale

The management of the Group performs a review at the end
of each reporting period on the carrying amounts of properties
under development or held for sale. Based on the review
from the management of the Group, write-down of properties
under development or held for sale will be made when the
estimated net realisable value has declined below their carrying
amounts. In determining the net realisable value of properties
under development, the management of the Group based on
the recent global and local economic developments, recent
sales transactions of the Group and other similar properties
in the surrounding areas, marketability of the Group’s existing
properties, fair value valuation performed by independent
property valuers, internally available information and
management’s expectation on future selling price.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of the properties
under development or held for sale is approximately
HK$466,064,000 (2019: HK$501,289,000). No write-down of
properties under development or held for sale was recognised
during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The PRC land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to the PRC land appreciation tax in
accordance with the relevant rules and regulations. However,
the implementation and settlement of the tax varies among
various tax jurisdictions in cities of the PRC, and the Group has
made provision for such expenses but has not finalised its PRC
land appreciation tax calculation and payment with any local tax
authorities in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the PRC land
appreciation tax included in the income tax expense is
approximately HK$31,779,000 (2019: HK$41,600,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value measurement of financial asset at FVTPL

The Group’s investments in unlisted equity securities in the PRC
are classified as financial asset at FVTPL and measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of the financial asset at FVTPL is determined by
an independent professional valuer, CHFT. Such valuation was
based on certain assumptions and estimates with the use of
valuation techniques including available market information and
other unobservable market data as detailed in note 7(c).

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of the financial asset
at FVTPL is approximately HK$8,100,000 (2019: HK$9,925,000),
with decrease in fair value of approximately HK$1,178,000
(2019: increase in fair value of approximately HK$7,520,000) for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing its capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to maximise the returns to its shareholders and benefits to
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings, promissory notes and
unsecured borrowings from a director as disclosed in notes
29, 30 and 31 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of
the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the drawdown of unsecured
borrowings from a director, repayment of bank and other
borrowings, adjustment of dividend to shareholders, as well as
new share issues and share buy-backs.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7.
(a) Categories of financial instruments

PR RBER
B T AR

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
(Restated)
(&7)
Financial assets CHEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REEK A E 2SR
BE 1,412,117 197,264
Financial asset at FVTPL BARBEFABRZ
TREE 8,100 9,925
1,420,217 207,189
Financial liabilities cHaE
Other financial liabilities at amortised ~ 3&HEs5R A s 2 7 HAtb
cost EHAE 3,933,723 2,498,730
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial asset at FVTPL, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables,
amounts due from/to related companies, bank and
other borrowings, promissory notes and unsecured
borrowings from a director. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group was not exposed to significant
foreign exchange risk as the main operation
of the Group located in the PRC only had
limited foreign currency transactions other
than functional currency of the respective
entities denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”). The
directors of the Company consider that the
foreign currency risk of the Group is insignificant
for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019,
hence no sensitivity analysis is presented.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to bank and other borrowings
(note 29), promissory notes (note 30) and
unsecured borrowings from a director (note 31),
which are carried at fixed rates.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank balances (note 26). As all the Group’s
bank balances were short-term in nature, any
change in the interest rate from time to time is
not considered to have significant impact to
the Group’s performance. The Group currently
does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary
actions when significant interest rate exposure
is anticipated.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and
other receivable, amount due from a related company
and cash and cash equivalents (collectively refer to as
“other financial assets”). The carrying amounts of these
balances represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to financial assets. The credit risk is
managed in a group basis.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group obtains
credit report from commercial information providers to
assess the counterparty’s credit and defines credit limits
by counterparty. Individual credit limits of customers are
reviewed by the management of the Group periodically.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has established credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

Based on the Group’s historical experience in collection
of deposits and other receivables and taking into
account the current and forward-looking information, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, no provision
for uncollectible deposits and other receivables has
been made in the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the
ECL on an individual basis for customer with significant
balances by using a provision matrix, estimated based
on historical credit loss experience, as well as the
general economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group has
assessed whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group will
measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather
than 12-month ECL.

Management considered amount due from a related
company to be low credit risk. ECL for amount due from
a related company was insignificant and thus no loss
allowance was recognised for the year ended 31 March
2020.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance as at
31 March 2020, approximately HK$5,282,000 (2019:
HK$2,442,000, as restated), representing 97% (2019:
96%, as restated) of the total trade receivables, is due
from the Group’s largest customer.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. BBEREE(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BHEREEBERBUR(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk AEFYIEERERE
In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked BREEER Kﬁlaff%ﬁﬁl

its management of the Group to develop and maintain
the Group’s credit risk grading to categorise exposures
according to their degree of risk of default. The credit
rating information is supplied by the management of
the Group using public available financial information
and the Group’s own days past due to rate its major
customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are
continuously monitored and the aggregate value of
transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework
comprises the following categories:

EEFHE&%HﬁEIWET
&@ Mﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬂhﬁ?“*
cEENRENMASEERERA
ﬁTﬁ%Vﬁﬂ&KEIQ%ﬁ%H
B U AE IR RP MAMER
A o AEEREBENERRREHFINE
EREREXERE  METKRHH
BEANSNRINHEF IR E -

AEEBAMEERRIRERBIEIN
T \#—ﬁ

Basis for recognising ECL

BRRAEEBENEE
Category Description Other financial assets
Ehl it HthemEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default orhas ~ 12-month ECL
not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to as
Stage 1)
B4 HRENRRRESERRRBVEERRTREZEN - B 12EARREEER
Iﬁggﬂﬁ2§ﬂ§§0“@ﬁ%—ﬁ)
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime ECL — not credit
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are impaired
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)
Rk HNMERERBMERICEZ LML ECERE eME 2PRBEEBEAEREE
E("*ﬁﬁ%fi&) ERE]
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one Lifetime ECL — credit
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the impaired
estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer
to as Stage 3)
EX) HRMEAEERE  BZBEERE I ENEHEMEt 2HEREERE—EERE
AKBREREELRENTEZEREE(DERF=R)
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
i B f%mﬁﬁAE REREVERE  MAKEVEERERE SBECEHHE

Rl
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. R b R (1)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BRRKRERBERBE(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s TRHEIWAEESREENEEEEZR
financial assets as well as the Group’s maximum KAEENSZSEERE -

exposure to credit risk.

2020 2019
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying carrying carrying carrying
credit rating  lifetime ECL amount amount amount amount
A 128 A 25
FERR BHEEES CHEPCIEES TR BREAE REEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET FAT FHT
Trade receivables  Note Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach) 5,425 5,425 2553 2,553
B SRR BE FHEREEE
R(HLE)
Deposits and other  Performing 12-month ECL
receivables 28,212 28,212 30,893 30,893
e REMEK B4 128 AR E
AR B8
Amount due froma  Performing 12-month ECL
related company 2,071 2,071 — —
RN —FIEERR BY 128 AR E
A B8
Note:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified Mz RESEREHMNE ARECEREE
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at PHREEREIRNZBLTE &2
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on these items HEBEEB BB BRE - ARERE
by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical RRREEETZSHEACERCES
credit loss experience based on the past due status of the B ABEDERNRBRESAZBEELD
debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions SEmAKSTE 2 BEEEBRRE - I
and estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, {EHEE IR AR MR E IR R AR RS
the credit risk profile of these assets is presented based on BN 5T - Bl - REERE - Z
their past due status in terms of the provision matrix. Note 25 FEREZFERBHRREHAZBER
include further details on the loss allowance for these assets. KR 2T - WEsBE S AEFER

B~ TS -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
location is mainly in the PRC.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of other borrowings
and unsecured borrowings from a director and ensures
compliance with loan covenants, if any.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group
reported net loss of approximately HK$190,842,000
during the year ended 31 March 2020 and as at 31
March 2020, the Group had bank and other borrowings
of approximately HK$17,686,000 due within one
year. As at the same date, the Group also had capital
commitment of approximately HK$82,077,000, while
its net current assets and cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$1,495,784,000 and
HK$1,376,409,000 respectively. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations
and the details of which are set out in note 2.

The following tables detail show the Group’s remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period,
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities (including both interest and principal cash
flow) based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay.

7.

I EBRERE (&)

(b)

B¥mEREERERBER(R)

FERkR(E)
AEBZRWEVERNNEERRER
PR -

REBEEER

AEESEBULERERERAE#
BRREBEEBRABRERZKFE - BN
AEBZEERRERSHRERDZF
2 - EHEECERHEMEERESER
REEZBHARBR - WRRAETERR
#H(mA) -

AEBAEBRRBESRER  HTHER
AEEHZE2020F3A31 AL FEH
5% EB4190,842,000/ T » MM
20203 A318 * AEESEFRITRE
ffE E 417,686,000 TR —E R
H - RAIR - AEENERE A%
E#82,077,0008 T - MEREEE
FENEREEERBRSUDROA
1,495,784,0007 7t ] 1,376,409,0007%5
T ARBREZRA  AKEABEH
BERSURBTTEMBEME  AEFE
SRME2

TRFALNBERRAEERT AN
FHER - DRESRMABIAMBAR
ERE(BRMELASRERE) LA
SEARBFEN ZPALRE -
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. BERRER (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BERREEBERECK(E)
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEL (&)

AEESBABECAOHBENT -

The Group's financial liabilities have contractual
maturities as follows:

136

Morethan  More than
Ondemand  1yearbut  2yearbut Total
or less than less than lessthan  More than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2years 5years 5years  cash flows Amount
BEXY  EBIFE  BEEe AMBRS
HIME DiE DIRSE BiB5E RELE g
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$ 000
TR TiEn T TR TiEn TiEn
At 31 March 2020 202053731 A
Trade and other payables BHREMEMNTE 195975 = = = 195,975 195,975
Amount due to related companies  [ERBEATZIE 1,151 = = = 1,151 1,151
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE 190495 934518 480254 1618105 3223372 215735
Promissory notes ES RS — 1062599 - — 106259 980,19
Unsecured borrowings from a director  EEEEREE = 660,193 = = 660,193 509,046
387,621 2,657,310 480254 1618106 5143200 3933723
In addition, the maturity profie of the ~ #4h» AEERER
Group's lease liabilities is as follow: {2 ZIEHAALT :
Lease liabilties HERE 8,536 6,564 9,492 20,154 4,476 32982
At 31 March 2019 (restated) R201953431R
(851)
Trade and other payables BHREAMERTE 161423 = = = 161,423 161,423
Amount due to related companies  [ERT BB IR 2,933 = = = 2,933 2,933
Other borrowings EfEE 171,671 1,036,000 — — 1207671 1,009,030
Promissory notes RAZE — 1,000,359 = — 1000359 917827
Unsecured borrowings from a director  EZEHIAES = 392,928 50,99 = 452,923 407517
336,027 2,429,287 59,995 — 2825309 2498730
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

()

Fair value measurement

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period for recurring measurement,
grouped into fair value hierarchy Level 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable in
accordance to the Group’s accounting policy.

7. BEERER(E)
()

Financial asset at FVTPL BAAREBEFABRZEREE
Unlisted equity security, grouped  HEBAARBEFIBZA LN

into fair value hierarchy Level 3 #25&E %

AREEE
REGEMBERRRERAABETE

TREIREHEPRRE R UAER
DABEFEZHBIANN - REAX
SEEEK RAABEIIBER
ERABTANBRAABERIE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
TRT TAT

8,100 9,925

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value
hierarchy during the year.

£ DABEER Y EEE -
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c) Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value of financial asset that are measured at fair

value on a recurring basis

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair

value measurements of financial asset on a recurring

basis are set out below:

7. MBREREE(E)

(©)

AREETEER)

EREEHERRAABENENER

EEQAAEE

BREHEEESREBELAEEM
ERRBERM KB ABEEINT :

Relationship
of key inputs
Valuation and significant
Financial Fairvalue  technique and Significant unobservable
instruments Fair value hierarchy key inputs unobservable inputs  inputs to fair value
FEGAYER
AffE RERMR EXARA AREEHEATT
BHIA AREE =l IERABE BEGANE SEPN Ll
HK$'000
T
Unlisted equity  As at 31 March 2020: Level 3 Asset-based (i) Marketability (i) The higher of
security at HK$8,100,000 approach discount of 20% marketability
FVTPL (2019: HK$9,925,000) (2019: 20%); and discount, the
lower the fair
value.
(ii) Minority discount of (i) The higher the
20% (2019: 20%) minority discount,
the lower the fair
value.
BAREEFA  R202043A8318 E3[E BEEE (i) E3HHH20% (i) S#frmEs -

BEzALET 8,100,000
ERES (20194 : 9,925,000/ 7T)
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

()

Fair value measurement (Continued)
Fair value of financial asset that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of
financial asset on recurring basis are as follows:

7. BERRER (&)

DRBETEE)
BRCEMEERAABETENGE
BEQAEEE)
SREENFIEANBETEREEN
EREERMT

()

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$'000

T T
(Restated)

(&Z3)

At the beginning of the year REF] 9,925 —
Acquisition during the year FAYE = 2,320
(Decrease) increase in fair value DAEBECHD )M (1,178) 7,520
Exchange differences fE =% (647) 85
At the end of the year RER 8,100 9,925

Fair value of financial instruments that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors of the Company considered that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements are not materially differ from their
fair values.

EREEUHEERNABENENTHE
IEQAREE

AAREERE  GEVBRRANRSE
ERATREz eBMEEREMBREZE
EEEEARBEALTEEAER -
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8. REVENUE

Revenue represents income arising from sales of properties and
provision of property management services in the PRC during
the year.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

LON

WAEFARBHETEY R MEEDEEER
BAELAWA -

BRAAKERANDFIT :

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FAT
(Restated)
(&Z3)
Revenue from contract with customers — B/BBTSIRE &R 5155 8B A
within the scope of HKFRS 15: REBFAHHBA
— Sales of properties —HEYE 109,680 156,721
— Property management services — B R 15,173 2,678
124,853 159,399
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by RERREREDEFEHWA
timing of recognition:
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THEx FAT
(Restated)
(271)
Timing of revenue recognition U A FERES T
— Ata point in time — AR RS FEZh 109,680 156,721
— Qver time —PBERS S 15,173 2,678
124,853 159,399

Sales of properties

The Group’s property development activities are mainly
carried out in the PRC. Taking into account the contract terms,
the Group’s business practice and the legal and regulatory
environment, revenue from property sales contracts is
recognised at a point in time. Under the transfer-of-control
approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from property sales is generally
recognised when the property is accepted by the customer,
or deemed as accepted according to the contract, whichever
is earlier, which is the point in time when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of the property and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits of the property.
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Sales of properties (Continued)
Provision of property management services

Revenue from property management services is recognised
over time. The property management service contracts have
various contractual periods for which the Group bills fixed
amount for each month of service provided. The Group elected
to apply the practical expedient which revenue is recognised at
the amount to which that the Group has the right to invoice for
the services performed.

As permitted by HKFRS 15, transaction price allocated to
the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) is not disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company have been identified as
the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”). Management
determines the operating segments based on the Group’s
internal reports, which are reviewed by the executive directors
of the Company for performance assessment and resources
allocation.

The CODM reviews the overall results of financial position of
the Group as a whole prepared based on the same accounting
policies.

Following the completion of the acquisition of Zhejiang Doof
(note 39), the Group has expanded into the provision of property
management services and thus had presented two reportable
segments for the year ended 31 March 2020. The segment
information for the year ended 31 March 2019 was re-presented
accordingly.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed
separately according to the nature of the operations and the
product perspectives. Each of the Group's reportable operating
segment represents a strategic business unit that are subject
to risks and returns that are different from the other reportable
operating segment. Details of the reportable operating segment
are as follows:

1. Property — Property development, sales and leasing of
properties

2. Management services — Provision of property management
services

B ()

HENE ()

REMEEERS
NEERRHREREHERER - DETREES
WAESEANE - AREHEHSABHA
B HRE - ARMERRAEREE L
WA R AR R R HAR RN E
R

MEBHBHELIESRAT - PETRET
(KB AREIT)BHOEENR HERILARE -

2 EER

ARABTEFREIREERRE((TREER
RE]) - EEBREAD AN TERAENIAE
FRMERBROEZ A SEANREETLE

2«

FREERREBHNARERBAER S BR R
SN ISR RA -

TR Z % (M13139)1% - AEEDEAS
REMEEERBEIY A REZ202063 8318
IFFEEZFATMER 2HH 5 - Bt - FF
2WEZE2019F3A31 B ILEEHEER o

AEERRER B RER D FREEM
ERHEERT - AEEBEN2HREBHE
RE—EXBRIEER - HRERANEREE A
EREE DR - AI2MEBH BB
@

1. MEMEER  HEREENE

2. BERB—IRENEEERYG
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142

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable and operating segments.

2 EER ()

TRARAZHIEED BHIERNAEE YRR
RENM

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZE2020F3A31HLLFE
Management
Property services Total
/S BERHK Hst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT THAT
REVENUE 'ON
Revenue from external customers B INFRE Z A 109,680 15,173 124,853
Segment (loss) profit HE(EE) BT (46,693) 3,491 (43,202)
Unallocated income AOBUA 3,316
Unallocated expenses APEHX (125,169)
Loss before tax Bri% A B (165,055)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Restated) EZE2019F3A31 8 FFE(E7))
Management
Property services Total
/S BERHK “ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FHT TAT

REVENUE 'ON
Revenue from external customers B IMNBES Z A 156,721 2,678 159,399
Segment (loss) profit S EB(E518) = A (6,222) 339 (5,883)
Unallocated income FARUA 439
Unallocated expenses AOEHX (89,541)
Loss before tax BrA A B (94,985)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4.
Segment (loss) profit represents the (loss from) profit earned
by each segment without allocation of certain finance income,
certain finance costs, certain expenses, impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment, impairment loss on right-of-
use asset and gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 40). This
is the measure reported to CODM for the purposes of resource

allocation and performance assessment.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. DEER ()
Segment assets and liabilities AHEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities REBEERBEZ DR 2R IEEH L2
by reportable and operating segment: FIEAT
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx THET
(Restated)
(&Z3)
Segment assets AWEE
Property ES 4,576,453 3,373,881
Management services EIRRRT 9,030 3,391
Unallocated assets Ko EE 16,359 40,612
Total consolidated assets IREEEBT 4,601,842 3,417,884
Segment liabilities AHEE
Property YE 3,035,265 1,646,617
Management services EIRRRT 5,092 2,940
Unallocated liabilities AN = 1,091,004 993,236
Total consolidated liabilities A aERE 4,131,361 2,642,793
Segment assets exclude certain property, plant and equipment, DBEETDRFETYE  MELRE  &5TF
certain right-of-use asset, intangible asset, certain other REEE EFEE  HTHMEBKERRET
receivables and certain cash and cash equivalents as these RekERRe RZZEEDREGELE
assets are managed on a group basis. 8 .
Segment liabilities exclude certain other payables, certain DEEBETEEETEMENERR - B TEME
amounts due to related companies, certain unsecured BRRFIA  ETRAZEENERBEE &N
borrowing from a director, promissory notes and certain lease EERETHEARE -
liabilities.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. DEER ()
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) IHWEEREE(R)
Other segment information HittpHER
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ22020F3A31ALFE
Management
Property service  Unallocated Total
L/ EERE KOE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FHET FHT
Amounts included in the measure  BIERFTEH R
of segment profit or loss or BRDHEEDN
segment assets: Gl
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #)% ~ = K& &
equipment nE 8,957 7 3,230 12,194
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ EAEEERE 732 — 3,583 4,315
Bank interest income RITH R 28 6 6 40
Decrease in fair values of ERBREMERR
investment properties under EBERD
construction 28,302 — — 28,302
Decrease in fair value of financial &A% (BE AR
assets at FVTPL B EBEER
REERD 1,178 — — 1,178
Additions to non-current assets NEIFEREEE 131,629 — 25,195 156,824
Amounts regularly provided tothe ~ FEMRMtF T B
chief operating decision maker BRREERE
but not included in the measure ERETEDEE
of segment results EEHE
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHBA G — — 3,132 3,132
Impairment loss on right-of-use EREEERER
assets B — — 4,576 4,576
Impairment loss on property, plant ~ #1% ~ BB K&
and equipment RIEETE = = 11,347 11,347
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Restated)

©
=

S

HEH ()
HEERAE(H)

Hitr FEHH ()

HE2019E3A31H ILEE(EF)

Management
Property service  Unallocated Total
L/ES EERE AoHE Mgt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Amounts included in the measure of BIERETEH LB
segment profit or loss or segment  # D BEER
assets: TH
Depreciation of property, plantand % ~ = K&/
equipment nE 523 — 224 747
Decrease in fair values of FRIEEME/R
investment properties under EBERD
construction 30,438 — — 30,438
Additions to non-current assets NEIFERBDEE 151,833 23 1,301 153,157
Bank interest income RITA S 33 1 3 37
Increase in fair value of financial BAnEEGAE
assets at FVTPL Bl ERMEER
AEEEM 7,520 — — 7,520
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(a) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
are as follows:

9. DHER (E)
(@ FHIEEFZEHR
HAFEEARERKRABRI0%NE

Customer A BEA
Customer B ®FB
Customer C EFC
Customer D ®FED
Customer E EPE
Customer F BFF
Customer G EFG
Customer H EFH

(b) Geographical information

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. As all the
Group’s revenue from external customers are derived
from the PRC, no information of the Group's revenue by
geographical location is presented.

As at 31 March 2020, over 90% (2019: 90%) of its total
non-current assets (excluding financial asset at FVTPL)
are located in the PRC.

10. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

PWRALT :
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FHET
— 49,947
— 44,097
— 36,212
— 26,465
64,013 —
23,379 —
15,504 —
15,173 —

(b) WEEH

RRBBEINERL - XAEBMERE
SBEP ZBAGRRFE - I EIZH
BUE2FIEHEARBRAZER -

20203318 » HAFERBEE(T
BRERAABEFABRSZZERHEE)B
890% (20194F : 90% )RR o

10. EHiaWARFkE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THEx FAT
(Restated)
(&Z31)
Exchange gain (loss), net B 5 F s (B518) 86 (22)
Others Hith 758 465
844 443
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FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 11. B s W 2 2 B A AR
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fix FAT
(Restated)
(&%)
Finance income: B
— Bank interest income — RITH B M= 40 37
Finance costs: BATERR
— Interest on bank and other borrowings ~ — 1T R EMEET|E 86,185 102,391
— Interest on unsecured borrowings from  — EEEEIREEF| S
a director 42,014 13,255
— Interest on promissory notes (note 30)  — 7 Z#EFI 8 (F3E30) 62,368 62,240
— Interest on lease liabilities (note 23) — HEaERB(KH23) 3,235 =
193,802 177,886
Less: amount capitalised on qualifying B AREREEEALZE
assets (note) B (FzE) (95,496) (94,881)
98,306 83,005

Note:

The borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose from the general borrowing
pool are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 9.0% (2019: 9.1%) per

annum to expenditure on qualifying assets.

wit

FABEMZEERAT B —RIERBBES - YUEAL
FHEIOE(2019%F : 01E)FHE - BERABRREAEZFX

A o
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12.

13.

148

LOSS BEFORE TAX 12. BREIATEE
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging: PRIZRIESE TR HIR LA NS IRER
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
(Restated)
(E3)
Staff costs (including directors of the BINA(BIEARRES)
Company)
— salaries and other allowances — Fre RHEMER, 41,356 24,420
— retirement benefits scheme — RNEFET BB
contributions 4,795 3,056
46,151 27,476
Cost of properties recognised as an BRRFRZ ZWEKAR
expense 54,399 95,547
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN & 1,600 1,500
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB RRETE
equipment 12,194 747
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 4,315 —
Loss on write-offs on property, plantand #5473 « BiE &R EEE
equipment — 284
Minimum lease payments paid under REHAME 2 EEHERS 2
operating lease rentals in respect of ERREEENT N/A
rented premises TEHA 3,591
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FifSHixX
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current income tax BIERRR1S AT
— PRC land appreciation tax — PR IR (E R 31,779 41,600
Deferred income tax (note 32) EREFTET (P EES2) (5,992) (7,609)
25,787 33,991
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
Hong Kong Profits Tax

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided since no
assessable profits have been generated during both years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC enterprise income tax in respect of operations in the
PRC is calculated at a rate of 25% on the estimated assessable
profits for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 under the
Law of the PRC’s on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and
implementation Regulation of the EIT Law.

No PRC enterprise income tax has been provided since no
assessable profits have been generated during both years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The PRC land appreciation tax

Land appreciation tax in the PRC is levied on properties
developed by the Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value under
the applicable regulations, which is calculated based on the
proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including cost of land use rights, borrowing costs, statutory
deduction and all property development expenditures.

13.

Frs®im (&)

EBFIEH

BERSBNESHETRE  LIHARERE
20204 201943 531 B |- FE I 4 = A& (T fa] JE
FHEF o

hERTEMER
BERTREE s HEACEMSHRERE(REY
BRI CEMERE]) R(EEMSERE
B 50 siE £ 2020F K% 201963 A31H [HF
Bt R R R R25% 51 o

BERFRCEMSHETEE  HWAREE
20204 2201943 A31 B L FE W E A A (T {r e
RELREA o

B A (Y

Rz tHEER IR A EBRREHEZY
¥ RETHZ ABENRRERTEI0% E£60% H
W B ERETREERRE R EMERS
FOBMBR AR (R E L AR A -~ &
ERA AR R BMERERL)EL -
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13.

150

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 13.  FifSBim% (@)
The PRC land appreciation tax (Continued) B L B E R (')
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REEMEHAS GG BRR 2 RUAIEE
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss IR
as follows:
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FAT
(Restated)
(&3)
Loss before tax BREA AR (165,055) (94,985)
Tax calculated at respective income RIS IR R H 2 IR
tax rate (31,118) (16,210)
The PRC land appreciation tax B T i ER 31,779 41,600
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ HBRER 2 WA Z RIS E
purpose (531) (%)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ANz % 2 52
for tax purpose 30,085 17,651
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RHERTIBEE 2 TS /2 = 141
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B S BT RTER T IB B R 2 B
previously not recognised o2 (4,428) (9,186)
Income tax expenses for the year REEMEHRAX 25,787 33,991

Details of deferred income tax are set out in note 32.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERIETHAEME
EMOLUMENTS
(@)  Directors’and chief executive’s emoluments (@ EBSRTETHAEME
The remunerations paid or payable to each of the 8 BN SERNTARFLSE (20195 : 15
(2019: 15) directors and chief executive of the Company Z)VEERETBTHAE ZMEHTIM
were as follows: K
For the year ended 31 March 2020 EZ2020F3831HLLFE
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
#1E% BUkHTEE
Mr.Huang  Mr.Jin Mr. Li Mr.Xu  Ms.Pau Mr.Wong  Mr.Yuen
MrHu  Xiaohai  Jianggui  Zhenyu  Haohao  Yeeling KwanKit  HoiPo
(note () (note(ii)) (note(iii)) (note(iv)) (note(v)) (note(vi)) (note(vil)) (note (vii)) Total
it ERELE SIERE TREAE HER%E HAELL EEAKE RERA4
(WRE)  (RSEGE)  (RSEEGE)  (REE(V)  (BEEQ))  (RE()  CRORE(vii)) (R vill) 3
HK$000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tén TEx T TEn  TEr  THn  TEx  TEr  TEn
Emoluments paid or receivable 5% AT
in respect of a person’s EEREREA
services as a director, TRBE e
whether of the Company & (Fsh
o its subsidfaries BERAGE
undertaking; HEARE
g):
Fees o5 2211 600 600 600 403 220 220 220 5134
Emoluments paid or HEZEHER
receivable inrespectof  AATREH
drectors other senvices  BAAZHE
in connection with the AthRBEH
management of the affairs ~ SRENEHS -
of the Company and its
subsidliaries undertaking:
Other emoluments Hithe
Salaries e - - - - 2605 - - = 2,605
Housing allowance EEEY 203 = = = = = = — 203
Retirement benefit AR
scheme HES
contributions i3 - - - - 12 - - - 12
209 - - — 287 - - — 46
Total emoluments Heas 4310 600 600 600 3020 220 220 220 9,790
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14, EBRFETHAEHE(E)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@)  Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) ESRFETBRAEME(E)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE2019F3A31B IFE
Execuiive directors Independent non-exective directors
gz BUFES
Mr. Cheung
MreLei Ms.Cheng KwokWai, M:leing M Yuan M Huang Wr.dn Melo Mela Ml MeWong  MsPau  MiWong M Yuen
Hong Wai Kaki Efon Me  Hiia  McHu  Xeonal  Jangg  Zhenyu  HokLm  SengFat TakChuen  Yeelng  KwanKi  HoiPo
(note (i) (ote(x) (note(d) (note(i)) (notefxil) (otefl) (note(i) (notefil) (rote() (nole(v) (note(x)) (note(wi) (note()) (note(vil) (not (vii) Total
FERE SEN0E FARRE MRY REBRE  HRL ERERE STHRE ZRTRE PEREY MERE EERRE WEELr ERNGE AR
(Rt (W) (ea) CMod) (Hea))  (eq)  (REO) (W) (Ged) (Woa) (Rtoo) (REeed)  (REEGD)  (0d) (R i
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO0  HKS000  HKSOO  HKS000  HKSO0  HKS000  HKSOO  HKS000  HKSO0  HKS000  HKSOO  HKSO00  HKSOO  HKS000
Tén Thn T TEn A TR TR A TAn TR TR TEn TR A TEr T
Emoluments paid or recelvable nrespect -2 ATEFESR
ofapersons senices asadiector,  EEAREENE
whetherofthe Company o s EhMe(Taa
subsicries inderiaking: KAFTHNER
7E3):
Fees 5 10 418 10 = 1452 1097 548 43 £ 131 131 131 89 8 89 474
Emoluments peld or receivatle inrespect TESREER
of irectors ofher sences n AAARENE
comecionwith he managementol  ARSHHEMR
fne affas of the Company and ts BEfE
subsidiares undertaking: fEhE:
Other emoluments Efpike
Salares it - - - 1% - - - - - - - - - - - 1%
Housing alowance BERM = = = = = 47 = = = = = = = = = 457
Retfement beneftscheme RiNERH
contibutons Bl - - - 12 - - - - - - - = = = = 12
= = -1 - = = = = = = = = - oM
Total emoluments [k 10 478 10 1998 1452 1504 548 43 24 131 131 131 89 8 89 7,191

Notes:

(i)

(il

(iv)

152

Mr. Hu was appointed as the chairman and an executive

director on 2 May 2018.

Mr. Huang Xiaohai was appointed as an executive director on

2 May 2018.

Mr. Jin Jianggui was appointed as an executive director on 5

November 2018.

Mr. Li Zhenyu was appointed as an executive director on 5

November 2018.

Mr. Xu Haohao was appointed as an executive director on 30

July 2019.

Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2020

(i) HAEAER2018FE5 A2REREATRER

HITES

(i) EHES L ER2018F5 A2 BRI A

TES -

(iif) SITHEER2018F 11 AL HEZERH

TES -

(iv) FRFAER2018F 11 A5 BEZ T AHL

TES -

(v) REZFER2019F7 A0BEZERH

TES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

(b)

()

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(xi)

(xii)

(xii)

(xiv)

(xvi)

Ms. Pau Yee Ling was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 5 November 2018.

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 5 November 2018.

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 5 November 2018.

Mr. Lei Hong Wai resigned as an executive director on 3 April
2018.

Ms. Cheng Ka Ki resigned as an executive director on 5
November 2018.

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wai, Elton resigned as an executive
director on 3 April 2018.

Mr. Leung Alex resigned as an executive director on 5
November 2018.

Mr. Yuan Huixia resigned as an executive director on 5
November 2018.

Mr. Lai Hok Lim resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 5 November 2018.

Mr. Lei Seng Fat resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 5 November 2018.

Mr. Wong Tak Chuen resigned as an independent non-
executive director on 5 November 2018.

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

None of the directors of the Company received or will
receive any retirement benefits or termination benefits
during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Waived or agreed to waive any emoluments

None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31
March 2020 and 2019.

EERFETHAEME ()

() EBERIRTHRAEME(H)

HisE - (48)
(vi) ERE L TN2018F 11 A5 A ER T AE
SIEHTES °

(vii) BRAKER2018F 11 ASBRZTAE
UIERITES o

(viii) RBREENR2018FE 11 A5 A EREAE
SIEHTES °

(ix) TR L ER2018F4 A3AFHEITE
$ °

(x) B NMAR2018F 11 A5 B BHIHITE
$ °

(xi) KBRS AER2018F4 A3ABHTIHTE
$ °

(xii) RIS A R2018F 11 ASABHEHITE
$ °

(xiif) REBERAER2018F 11 ASHBHIHITE
$ °

(xiv) BRI HEN2018F 11 A5 HBHEBIE
HWITES -

(xv) PR ER2018F 11 A5 B BHEE M IE
WTES -

(xvi) HEREEN2018F 11 A5ABHEBMIE
HWITES -

(b) EFZRMEFIERBERN

BZE20205 201963 A31H LFE -
BREA L B E WM E E TR
RN SEBER AR o

() HEIFEREETAHNE
EHZE20204F [;2019F3A31H ILFE
WA A& B E kR = R A B
ﬁ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RARMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14.

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(d) Inducement to join or upon joining the Group

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to any of
the directors of the Company or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office for the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

(e) Chief executive officer of the Company

Mr. Xu Haohao was appointed as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 2 September 2019.

15.  FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
two (2019: three) were directors of the Company and whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 14 above.
The emoluments of the remaining three (2019: two) individuals
were as follows:

EERIETBRAEME (F)

(d)
B -
(e) ARFATHER
DRTTIREEE, -
TEBREHMAL

TSI MAXEEIAMALEE

HZE20205F K2019F3A31H IEFE -
AEEVEAARARIMNEELAER
SHEMA LI A EAMSESEMAR
EEFE P IMAR LB 2 EE) s 1E ARk

HEZKER2019F9A2HEZ T AR

AEBRARSFMALS - BMA(2019%
ZR)BARRESF  WEMEHN LA 14
ZHBEER - RT =R (2019F : MB)ALZM
AT

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
(Restated)
(2751)
Salaries and other benefits o REAMBER 3,289 3,542
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFFTEI R

schemes 36 126
3,325 3,668

Their emoluments are within the following bands: HEMENTUTHE
2020 2019
No. of employee No. of employee
EE#HA ES&A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,000 7T 2 —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7t £2,000,0007% 7T 1 2
3 2
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RARMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

16.

SRR
ARFA A SREA RS FETHIAT
ERE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Loss &8
Loss for the year attributable to owners AR EGRERREEE
of the Company for the purpose of BZARAREE AR
basic and diluted loss per share FEEE (190,842) (128,976)
’000 ‘000
TR TR
Number of shares RDEE
Weighted average number of ordinary AR EBRERREEE
shares for the purpose of basic and 1Bz LBk T2

diluted loss per share

1,906,172 1,906,172

The denominators used are the same as those calculated above
for both basic and diluted loss per share.

Since there are no potential dilutive shares in issue during the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, basic and dilutive loss
per share are the same for both years.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
March 2020, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting period (2019: nil).

17.

AN BE F Rt EERER L EEEEMAE
AR

HNE E2020F £2019F3 A31 B L FERAE
FEEDBITRG W EEENERERRE
SEEEMER -

RE

E 202093 A31 B ILFE I &R N R EH R
ERRE - BREHRENMEEZZRMNEMERE
(20194 : £E) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION
The movement of the Group’s investment properties under

18. HEREWHE
AEBEEREYE  ZEEEIE N BET

construction and the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value EZHERET
measurement are as follows:
Investment
properties
under Right-of-use
construction assets Total
ERRENME EREEE #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T THEr THET
FAIR VALUE AREE
At 1 April 2018 %2018 4 A1H 1,791,701 N/A 1,791,701
TERA
Additions NE 67,376 N/A 67,376
TERA
Interest capitalised FEERE 52,136 N/A 52,136
TERA
Decrease in fair value (note) PABERD () (30,438) N/A (30,438)
TERA
Exchange differences PEH =% (113,640) N/A (113,640)
TERA
At 31 March 2019 FA201983A318 1,767,135 N/A 1,767,135
eV clii
Impact of adoption of HKFRS 16 [ &5 81 75 3R & 28|
F165h 28 — 29,431 29,431
At 1 April 2019 (Restated) M2019F4 A 18 (E71)) 1,767,135 29,431 1,796,566
Additions NE 45,881 — 45,881
Interest capitalised FEERE 59,134 — 59,134
Decrease in fair value (note) ARBERD () (23,968) (4,334) (28,302)
Exchange differences PEH =% (121,202) (1,896) (123,098)
At the end of the year RER 1,726,980 23,201 1,750,181

Note: For the year ended 31 March 2020, decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$28,302,000 (2019: decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$30,438,000) is attributable to the changes in
unrealised loss relating to investment properties under construction at
the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION
(CONTINUED)

The Group’s investment properties under construction of
approximately HK$1,726,980,000 have been pledged to secure
the bank borrowing granted to the Group (note 29).

An analysis of the Group’s investment properties under
construction that are measured subsequent to initial recognition
at fair value, grouped into fair value hierarchy Level 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to fair value measurements is
observable is as follows:

18.

HEREME(H)

REBEZEKREYE(491,726,980,00087T)
TR AR RE T AN EE 2 R BT EE29) -

RYSERREANBEMEIARBRERRE

Fair value
measurement
under fair value
hierarchy Level 3
at 31 March 2020

Fair value
measurement
under fair value
hierarchy Level 3
at 31 March 2019

WE - TRAAEEFEBAZBZIBEREE
NRERAABESIE - ARSI :

Recurring fair value measurements

— Investment properties under —(IREREE 2R
construction situated in Chongajing, IS

Western China

REUERABEE

1R2020%F3831H 72019F3A31H
ZDREEEIE ZARBESEIIE
DMREETE NREEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FAT

1,750,181 1,767,135

There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy Levels 1, 2
and 3 during both years.

Valuation processes

The Group’s investment properties under construction at 31
March 2020 and 31 March 2019 were valued by CHFT, an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group who hold recognised relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in valuing similar
properties in the similar locations. In estimating the fair value of
all of the Group’s investment properties under construction, the
highest and best use of these properties in the current use.

RMEFE  AREEFIE  F2EREIELZ
R EE -

HERE

REEP202093 5318 20193 A31 B M
BEREMERBUEEAERBRASERER
B AEMERETHE  ZEHEMSEER
AZHEBEEER  BHEEREUNE ZRED
ERGOPES - BASEMEERRENED
AREEZGFNE  ZEMNEZFCAEERE

SERBERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION  18. ZHERREWX(E)

(CONTINUED)
Information about fair value measurements using significant RRAEATAHERASE 2 A A EER(E3
unobservable inputs (Level 3) B)HEER
Range of
unobservable Relationship of
Valuation Unobservable inputs (probability unobservable
Description Fair value technique inputs weighted average) inputs to fair value
TOBEBAHE TUBEBAHE
e DMEE HER N TUBERARE SEERETIE) BANEEBE
Chongging — 31 March 2020: Residual Method - by reference i) Recent transacted 31 March 2020: The higher the
investment HK$1,726,980,000 torecent sales price of price RMB35,000 - RMB84,000 recent transacted
properties under (2019: comparable properties in (2019: RMB32,000 - price, the higher
construction HK$1,767,135,000)  price per square meter basis RMB83,000) per square the fair value
using market data which is metre
PUbhdy avaleble gnd taken ii) Estimated costto 31 March 2020: approximately
into account of estimated . _
construction cost that will be completon RMB1,991 {2019:
RMB3,219) per square metre
expended to complete the
development
ERHRRENE 202043831A:  HEEAERAORIERN ) ROARER  2020%F3A31A SRR ERESE
17269800008  MHEIE - NEFHRZER ARM35,00072 DRBERS
(2019% : REEBZULRNTHE ARH84,0007C
1767,135000%7) B W RERERTEREH (20194 : ARM32,0007
R B RRNA EARKS3,0007T) & Ak
i) fERF R IR 2020%3A31R  HARK
19917E (20196 « ARHS
3.21970) 8T Ak
Chongging — 31 March 2020: Income approach - by reference  Prevailing market 31 March 2020: RMB100 - The higher the
commercial HK$23,201,000 to capitalised income derived RMB180 (2019: N/A) per prevailing market
building (Right-of-  (2019: N/A) from market observable Square metre rent, the lower
use asset) transactions the fair value
EE-HEAB(ER 0NFIAA:  WAA-BETSTEERAE  ROTH 200053A318  ARBIOT RATHHLES
EAE) 23,201,000/ Mg A EARBIB0L(2019F : 7 DABERE
(20195 : FER) BR)ETAK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT OR HELD FOR  19.
SALE

BREPMERIFELHENE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Properties under development BREPYE = 501,289
Properties held for sale FEHEME 466,064 —
In Chongaing City, PRC HPEEET 466,064 501,289
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FET
Properties under development expected  TEHAME T #)3 R A % (12 7]
to be completed, at net realisable EIR5E75R)
value
— Within one year — %R — 501,289
In Chongaing City, PRC HEEET — 501,289

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has pledged the properties
held for sale at carrying amount of approximately
HK$466,064,000 (2019: nil) to secure the bank borrowing
granted to the Group (note 29).

R2020F3A31H ' AEEEEHEEELD
466,064,000/ 75 ( 20194 « B)MEEHEY

¥ BRTAKEORITEREER(HE29) -

REBBERAR/ —B-2FFH
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e ISR R MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

20. % BERRHE

Furniture,
Serviced  Construction Leasehold fixtures and Motor
apartments in progress  improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE  GE-%E
RERAE ERIR BFEE e "E @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAL TiBr TEL TiHr THT THAL
Cost A
At 1 April 2018 12018%F4A 1A — 578,692 152 1,362 1,611 581,817
Additions RE = 84,386 — 183 1,212 85,781
Write-off Hisa = - (152) (543) — (695)
Interest capitalised FMEERE = 24,271 = = — 24271
Amortisation of prepaid lease ENREERA
payments capitalised vl
(note 21) (HsE21) = 7,035 = = = 7,035
Exchange differences EHES - (36,039) - (38) (103) (36,180)
At31 March 2019 (restated) and 12019534318
1 April 2019 (B3R
201954718 — 658,345 — 964 2,720 662,029
Additions AE — 85,213 13,633 2,040 2,701 103,587
Write-offs s — - - (218) = (218)
Interest capitalised FEEAL = 20,646 — = = 20,646
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEERE
assets capitalised BRI — 6,838 — — — 6,838
Reclassification upon completion ~ TR{AEHH4E 693969 (742.908) = 48,939 = =
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF
(note 40) GEZ)) - - - () = ()
Exchange differences By 2R (18,588) (28,134) — (1370) (103) (48,195)
At 31 March 2020 2020437318 675,381 — 13,633 50,350 5318 744,682
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

20. % BERRE(E)

Furniture,
Serviced  Construction Leasehold fixtures and Motor
apartments in progress  improvements equipment vehicles Total
BE  HE-%E
REALE EEIR BTEE K&t RE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL
Accumulated depreciationand ~ BiFTERAE

impairment
At 1 April 2018 R201854A 1A — — m 437 3 581
Provided for the year EREE - - 41 244 462 747
Write-off HsH — - (152) (259) = (411)
Exchange differences ERES - - = (1) = (1)
At31 March 2019 and 1 Apri H2019F3 8318 &

2019 201954418 — — — 421 495 916
Provided for the year FREE 5193 = 2,286 3,544 1171 12,194
Impairment loss recognised in RERNRZHE

profit or loss B — = 11,347 = = 11,347
Write-offs it — - = (218) — (218)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR

(note 40) GiEZ0) — = = (1) = (1
Exchange differences BEHES (138) — - (104) (38) (280)
At 31 March 2020 R202053 431 5,065 — 13,633 3,642 1,628 23,958
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2020 120203431 670,326 — — 46,708 3,690 720,724
At31 March 2019 (Restated) H201953A31H

(Z31) = 658,345 — 543 2,225 661,113
The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than MRAERETIZIN  Fili% -« R REEIER A
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line HIGERE Kt REFRISEEE 2T E
basis, after taking into account their estimated residual values, FBESNT
over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Serviced apartments 33 years READNE 334F
Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease THEEFRE R4 EE]
Furniture, fixtures and equipment  25% Bl KBRE 25%
Motor vehicles 25% b=z 25%

REBBERAR/ —B-2FFH
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

20.

21.

162

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 20. W% BERZREE)
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the directors of the BE202053A31AIEFE - AAREFHAS
Company conducted a review of the Group’s property, plant B% - BEREEETRY  BELBEER
and equipment and determined that a number of those assets AEBSEHEREEERE - Bt - HEEF
were impaired due to the operating loss status of the Group. HIEHERBEA11,347,0008 7T (20194 « )R
As a result, an impairment loss of leasehold improvements of SARATERHERMEEXR AR EETER
approximately HK$11,347,000 (2019: nil) has been recognised HHEBTFTRERR - HEEENESBET
in respect of leasehold improvements, after considering that the TDEREBREMILEVBIRAERME  BFE R
fair value less cost of disposal of other assets are higher than FEMEReEEBMUMARA 2 RERARK
their carrying amounts. The recoverable amounts of the relevant FiANBEI %6.7% (20194 « T)EMBEE o
assets have been determined on the basis of their value-in-use
calculations using discounted cash flow projections of the cash
generating units in which the property, plant and equipment
belongs to, which were based on the financial forecasts
approved by management, with a pre-tax discount rate of 6.7%
(2019: ni).
As at 31 March 2020, the Group has pledged the serviced MR202063H31H » AEEBERREELNS
apartments with carrying amount of approximately 670,326,000/ 7T (20194 : T ) 2 RIS A B A
HK$670,326,000 (2019: nil) to secure the bank borrowing ERRTFARER ZBITER(K29) o
granted to the Group (note 29).
PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 21. FNHEERE
2019
HK$'000
FAT
At the beginning of the year REA) 290,143
Amortisation (note) i (FtE) (7,035)
Exchange differences [ =5 (18,629)
At the end of the year RER 264,479

Note: As at 31 March 2019, amortisation of prepaid lease payments
represents the amortisation of land use right used under construction in
progress and is capitalised in construction in progress (note 20).

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019, the carrying amount

of prepaid lease payments of approximately HK$264,479,000
was reclassified to right-of-use assets.
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23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RARMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

BOARBEFTABRZEREE

Unlisted equity securities in the PRC

FR LR _E T R R AR R

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERr TR
8,100 9,925

Note:

As at 31 March 2020, the unlisted equity securities represented an
investment in 10% equity interest in a private entity established in the
PRC. They were measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period, with decrease in fair value of approximately HK$1,178,000 (2019:
increase in fair value of approximately HK$7,520,000) recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2020.

LEASES

@i

Right-of-use assets

wit

HE
(i

#R2020F3A31H » K EMiEmEFERENEF
BRI MFLAEEN10% BHE - HERBEHR
BAAEBENE  REE20206F3A310 L EER
BRARPERNALEERDL1,178,0005% T
(20195 : A s [E{EILIN4Y7,520,00047T) ©

ERREEE

31/3/2020 1/4/2019

2020%3H31H 2019F4 A1H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FHT

Land use right T A 239,740 264,479
Leased premises THEME 2,001 4,601
241,741 269,080

As at 31 March 2020, right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$239,740,000 (1 April 2019:
HK$264,479,000) represent land use right located in the
PRC.

The Group has lease arrangements for the office
premises. The lease terms are generally ranged from
two years to three years.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year
ended 31 March 2020 amounted to approximately
HK$6,337,000 due to a new lease of office premise.

MN202043H31H ' FRAEEEAL
239,740,000/ L (2019F4 A18 :
264,479,000/ 7T ) FEAL A Bl 2 T b fF
FA%E -

AEERBAMRELEERS - BE
MBEENFmEE=F -

HRFEERAYE  HZE202043
ARt FERBEZERAEEENA
6,337,000/ 7T, ©

REEBERAT | —B-SEEH 163



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

23.

164

LEASES (CONTINUED)

(i)

(ii)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the directors of
the Company conducted a review of the Group’s right-
of-use assets and determined that a number of those
assets were impaired due to the operating loss status
of the Group. As a result, an impairment loss of right-of-
use assets of approximately HK$4,576,000 (2019: nil)
has been recognised in respect of a right-of-use asset
of leased premises, after considering that the fair value
less cost of disposal of other assets are higher than
their carrying amounts. The recoverable amounts of the
relevant assets have been determined on the basis of
their value-in-use calculations using discounted cash
flow projections of the cash generating units in which
the right-of-use assets belongs to, which were based on
the financial forecasts approved by management, with
a pre-tax discount rate of 6.7% (2019: nil).

23.

HE ()

(i)

ERREEE (&)
HZE2020F3A31BILEE » ADAIE
EHASEFRREEETR - BT
ZHEERASBEEBRBRERE
WE - Bt FREEEREBEY
4,576,000/ 7C(20194F : )Rt R AT
ERHEEMEERASREREER
REEMXFRAREERR - HHAEE
AR el & BB T T E AT IR B T it B
BHEAEAREENBRSELSBMNMN
BRI S RETRR KR FATAEIR£6.7%
(20194 : T)FAEEE -

Lease liabilities i)y HEEF
31/3/2020 1/4/2019
20203 H31H 20194 A1H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FHTT
Current Vi 5,827 3,861
Non-current IERE 27,155 30,171
32,982 34,032
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23. LEASES (CONTINUED) 23. MHE(E)
(i)  Lease liabilities (Continued) (i) HEEEE)
Amounts payable under lease liabilities REHEABRMATIEA
31/3/2020
202043 H31H
HK$’000
TERT
Within one year —FR 5,827
After one year but within two years —HFRERFA 4,311
After two years but within five years MERERFA 5,894
After five years hER 16,950
32,982
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months ~ J&i : I+ {8 B NE|H4EE 2 708
(shown under current liabilities) (RRBEETIR) (5,827)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months R+ ER &S BEE 2708 27,155
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group HZE2020F3A31H L EFE - AEE
entered into a new lease agreement in respect of HABAMET LA E R - WHER
renting office premise and recognised lease liability of FHEAE46,337,0008 T °
approximately HK$6,337,000.
(i)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss iy REBERPEAZEE
Year ended 31/3/2020
HZ20205
3AMALEFE
HK$°000
T
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets FREEENERS 4,315
Interest expense on lease liabilities HESEFBHX 3,235
Expense relating to short-term leases REHEERY 577
(iv)  Others (v) Hft
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total BZE2020E38310 L EE - EES
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately 7= e gE 4 0 175 000 T ©
HK$9,175,000.
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24. INTANGIBLE ASSET 24, BEEE
Cross boundary
vehicle license
PR
HK$°000
FARL
Cost and carrying value A R EREE

At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 2018F4 818 ~ 201963 A31H &
1 April 2019 20194 A1H —
Addition NE 1,019
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3 H31H 1,019

166

Intangible asset of approximately HK$1,019,000 represents the
cross boundary vehicle license which has a legal life of one year
but are renewable every year at minimal cost. The directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the Group would renew the
license continuously and has the ability to do so. Various studies
including market, competitive and environmental trends have
been performed by management of the Group, which supports
that the license has no foreseeable limit to the period over which
are expected to generate net cash flows for the Group.

As a result, the license is considered by the management of the
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected
to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The license will not
be amortised until their useful life are determined to be finite.
Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever
there is an indication that it may be impaired.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the directors of the
Company consider that there are no impairment of the licence.
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BIVEEX1,019,0008 TREEHR A —FE
BEARERAR TEH 2 BREHER - KD
AEERATEERE —BEYHEEEEMR -
AEEEEECENTSEME(REMS  BF
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EREFE L EAER 2RH -

Eit - RARSMOELERRERAFE £
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. ESRHMEKER
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
(Restated)
(&31)
Trade receivables B SRR 5,425 2,653
Deposits and other receivables Be REMEWER
(notes (i) and (i) GEIOPED) 28,212 30,893
Prepayments B FIE 1,896 16,679
35,533 50,125
Notes: Mt
(i) Included in the balance as at 31 March 2020 is approximately (i) 5t A2020F3A31H 2 &4 AK#16,095,000

RMB16,095,000 (2019: RMB18,387,000), equivalent to approximately
HK$17,544,000 (2019: HK$21,513,000), representing an indemnification
from the vendor of Gloryear Investments Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Gloryear Group”) for the loss arising from
the termination of the hotel operation of the Gloryear Group.

(i) The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL,
unless when there has a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition. For the deposits and other receivables of approximately
HK$28,212,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$30,893,000), the ECL
was minimal as these deposits and receivables had no recent history
of default and there was no unfavorable current conditions and forecast
future economic conditions at the end of the reporting period.

The Group does not hold any collaterals over these balances.
At as 31 March 2020, the gross amount of trade receivable

arising from contracts with customers amounted to approximately
HK$5,425,000 (2019: approximately HK$2,553,000).

JE(20194F : AR#18,387,0007¢) @ HERL
17,544,000/ 75 (20194F : 21,513,000 7T), A&
EREERARRENBAR (SR EF£E]) 2
BRI BT EREGELCBENREY
BERE -

(ii) AEEHFERSA12EABHEEBBNEER
B BRIFCEERRANIHRLES LN - A&
BRleRRA2HEHEEESE - TH2HEHE
EERBRTEERANREBEENZ AN LR
RENTHEREBELN - 512020F3A31H K
B& R H b FEURER 3K 4928,212,000/% 70 ( 20194 :
30,893,0007T) M5 © BHEEEEERE - RE
BESEE RRYERFCI Y EE O R B ERE
BRI A AR AR R TR SR A AR

ALEY BHZSERTH RN
M2020F3A31R  EPANELZEHE

UL BR TR 4858 4) /5,425,000 7T (20194 « 4
2,553,00047T) °
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 25, EZRHEMEBYRR(E)
AEBEAFHESGRFZHORZ THEEH -
TRV BERRREZAH(RKERRE D
0E) 252 E SRR SRk DT o

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days to its
trade customers. The following is an aged analysis of trade
receivables presented based on the invoice date, which

approximates to revenue recognition date, at the end of the

reporting period.

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

(Restated)

(&%)

0-30 days 0£30K 1,601 991
31-90 days 3TRENX 3,050 1,562
91-180 days 91 RE180K 774 —
5,425 2,553
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 25. EZRHMEWRERR(E)
The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at AEERESN 2 HEREEEESEAEE S
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables FEW IR B iR - BAE ZRITR 2 A
are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past EEERNERBREEEL2ZEHAZBEEN
default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s BRREBARBHBEIOAS TG - WHES
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific AFERZE « BRALE T 2 BRI
to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry TAR R RS B E A MBS R R SR Z
in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the AEVEL R o
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or RARERA - hERTSKAELERNRRBE
significant assumptions made during the current reporting EIEE -
period.
As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not BEASE BT EEHELER  TRAXPHH
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer TABIEEREAZEAEZR - ER@HfeE
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not ZEREBETENARBTNRAEPH  HE—F
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer E7 - EEETHREHEANEBREASEES
bases. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to AZHEBERBRER -
ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based AEERBEEREAEPIIENEREF £
on individually significant customer or the aging of customers ZIRERTERE SRS 2 2 BRI EE RN
collectively that are not individually significant as follows: e
As at 31 March 2020, the ECL determined using the provision 7202093 B31H » F R EEEETFHEEE
matrix is as follows: EEENT
Gross
Average carrying
loss rate amount
T EEE REAE
HK$'000
% THT
Not yet past due PNl : 3,126
0-30 days past due BHI0ZE30K : 1,625
31-90 days past due B3 Z0K * 774
5,425
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25.

26.

170

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 25. B RHEMEVER(E)
As at 31 March 2019, the ECL determined using the provision 201938318 @ F AR EEMETFHEEE
matrix is as follows: EEsEnmT
Gross
Average carrying
loss rate amount
T EEER REGE
HK$'000
% FHET
Not yet past due EN ki * 1,864
0-30 days past due FEHOZE 30K * 689
2,553
* The weighted average expected loss rate is immaterial. Y BT TER IR R ER o
The directors of the Company consider the ECL of trade RAREERAE HEKEFNTBAEERBEMN
receivables is insignificant, therefore no loss allowance on trade FEA - Fb 20204 k20193 H31 B I f i
receivables was recognised as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. RE F R EEERE -
The assessments on ECL of deposits and other receivables are Ze REMENRZNEREEBEHEERH
set out in note 7(b). F7(b) e
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. BReREREE

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are
subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. ESRHEMEMER
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
(Restated)
(&31)
Trade payables B HEMER 2,188 815
Construction costs accruals and B AEE R R ER
payables BRA 145,206 110,625
Other accruals and payables H e B REMER
(note (i) (&£ () 71,042 68,351
218,436 179,791
Note: Mt
(i) Included in the balance as at 31 March 2020 was approximately (i) 5t A2020F3A31H 2 &4 AK#16,095,000

RMB16,095,000 (2019: RMB18,387,000), equivalent to approximately
HK$17,544,000 (2019: HK$21,513,000), representing the compensation
payable in respect of the termination of the hotel operation of the
Gloryear Group.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date.

(20194 : AR¥18,387,0007T) , HHERL
17,544,000/ 7T ( 20194 : 21,513,000/ 7T ) AR
IHBFEEREESTREN 2HE -

HR R A 25U SRR S T
T -

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$'000

TEx FAT

(Restated)

(&51)

0-30 days 0£30K 149 815
31-60 days 31E60K 131 —
91-180 days 912180k 316 —
More than 180 days 180K E 1,592 —
2,188 815

The average credit period of trade payables is 30 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

BHRMNERTFHEEHNR0X - AEEEHIE
SRERERBRARRIAE BNRFREEY

PEES ©
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28. AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) RELATED COMPANIES 28.

These amounts represent amounts due from (to) companies
which are wholly-owned by Mr. Hu, an executive director and
the ultimate controlling party of the Company. These amounts
are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

For the purposes of impairment assessment, the directors
of the Company considered the amount due from a related
party to have low credit risk. Accordingly, the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL which is
considered not significant after taken into account the financial
strength of the related companies.

FEus (44) BIEE 1\ BIFRIE

ZEFRIEEE () AR R ARITESRRLE
HIAMELERERENRBMNFE - ZEFHAT
BER  REREEKREE -

FURERE B &) - ARBIESERREKEETR

BARREEERR - it - BREBRAER

2AREHREEERERIE  AFSBEHK
BRRMBENERRLTBER

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 29. W|ITRHEHMEE
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
THEx FAT
Other borrowings HipfEE 794,856 1,009,030
Bank borrowing RITEE 1,362,500 =
2,157,356 1,009,030
Current: e
Unsecured loan — principal portion ERRER—ANE IS
(note (7)) (H=E () — 35,100
Unsecured loan — interest portion EEAET—FEHD
(note (ii)) GEAD) 6,786 37,930
Secured bank loan — principal portion  HIFRITER—AS EH
(note (i) G 10,900 —
17,686 73,030
Non-current; FEE -
Unsecured loan — principal portion ERRER—AREHH
(note (ii)) (BRFEE (i) 788,070 936,000
Secured bank loan — principal portion IR TER—A S L5
(note (iii)) (B3 i) 1,351,600 —
2,139,670 936,000
Total bank and other borrowings BT EMEERT 2,157,356 1,009,030
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29.
Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled repayment

dates set out in the loan agreements):

RITRAMEE ()
EEREEREESHASITHEERH)

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET
On demand RER — 35,366
Within 1 year —&ER 17,686 37,664
More than 1 year but less than 2 years B8 —E(B D RME 798,970 936,000
More than 2 years but less than 5 years ~ BEMEELRRE 207,100 =
More than 5 years sk chakes 1,133,600 —
2,157,356 1,009,030
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THT
Carrying amount of bank and other F
borrowings repayable within one el
year 10,900 35,100
Interest portions of other borrowings Hinfe g2 M EHsD 6,786 37,930
Amounts shown under current liabilities ~ JI#Em 8 & &2 7B 17,686 73,030
Amounts shown under non-current FIVESEREN B (& 2 5B
liabilities 2,139,670 936,000
2,157,356 1,009,030

REBBERAR/ —B-2FFH
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29.

174

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(i)

(i

(i)

The unsecured loan as at 31 March 2019 represented the unsecured
loan with principal amount of RMB30,000,000, equivalent to
HK$35,100,000, from an independent third party to the Group. The
unsecured loan carried a fixed interest rate of 10% per annum with the
interest payable quarterly.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the unsecured loan had been
fully settled.

The effective interest rate of the unsecured loan is 10% per annum.

The unsecured loan as at 31 March 2020 represents the unsecured
loan with principal amount of RMB723,000,000 (31 March 2019:
RMB800,000,000), equivalent to approximately HK$788,070,000 (31
March 2019: approximately HK$936,000,000) and interest payable
of RMB6,226,000 (31 March 2019: RMB32,419,000) equivalent
to approximately HK$6,786,000 (31 March 2019: approximately
HK$37,930,000), from an independent third party to the Group. The
unsecured loan carries a fixed interest rate of 10% per annum, with the
interest payable quarterly, and will mature on 25 March 2021.

On 20 March 2020, the maturity date of the loan was extended to 3
October 2021.

The effective interest rate of the unsecured loan is 10% per annum.

The secured bank loan as at 31 March 2020 represents the new
bank loan with principal amount of RMB1,250,000,000 (31 March
2019: nil) obtained during the year ended 31 March 2020, equivalent
to HK$1,362,500,000 (31 March 2019: nil). The secured bank loan
carries a fixed interest rate of 7% per annum, with the interest payable
quarterly, and will mature on 30 March 2035. As at 31 March 2020,
the bank borrowing was secured by certain investment properties
under construction, properties under development or held for sale and
serviced apartments as set out in notes 18, 19 and 20 respectively.

The effective interest rate of the secured bank loan is 7% per annum.
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(i)

(ii

(i)

REAMER (F)

R2019F3 A1 R B AEREB L E=F A%
BEREN—%48¢ A ARE30,000,0005T (FHE R
35,100,000/ ) MBI HE R - EILFERETF
MERI0E - FISKRFES( -

HZE2020F3A31HILFE - B#EAEREEHE

E
/B °

AR BRFNEH10E -

R202063A31HERREREBERLE=H
AASERLNEASAARKE723,000,0007T
(201943 H31H : AR#¥800,000,0007T) (4f
21 #1788,070,000% L) (2019463 A31H : 4
936,000,000/ 7T ) ML E R BT F B ARKE
6,226,0007T( 2019437318 : AR¥32,419,000
7t) (FHE 1 476,786,000 7T ) (201943 A31H : 4
37,930,000/7T) ° EEAERETEFFIERI0E -
FBIRFELM 1120213 25855 -

R2020F3A20H * EFEIH AL RZE2021F10A3
B e

AR BRFNES10E -

R2020F3A318 + AEFEITEFIENE £2020
F3A31AILFEHMME RS ARME1,250,000,000
T2 HTER(2019%3A310 : &) HER
1,362,500,000/87C( 201943 A311 : &) - A
RITEFNETENRATE - FBRTEL - 8
R2035F3A30R E|H - 1A2020F3A31H + 171
A RIEFIAM 18 « 19%20M B FHEZIREY
¥ EERERBFELENERRBAASELR
;cEp °
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PROMISSORY NOTES AAEE
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THT
At the beginning of the year REF] 917,827 855,587
Interest charge (note 11) FEZ W (FizE11) 62,368 62,240
At the end of year WEXR 980,195 917,827

On 28 July 2016, the Company issued promissory notes with
aggregate principal amount of HK$1,168,000,000 as part of the
consideration to acquire the entire equity interest in the Gloryear
Group. The promissory notes are unsecured, carries a fixed
interest rate of 8% per annum and would mature on 28 July
2019. All interests will be paid on the date of the maturity date.
The Company may redeem (in full or in part) the promissory
notes at any time after the date of issue of the promissory notes
and before the maturity date by serving prior notice to the
promissory notes holder. The promissory notes are measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rates at 8%.

Promissory notes with aggregate principal amount of
HK$390,000,000 were early redeemed by the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2017, while promissory notes with
aggregate principal amount of HK$778,000,000 remained
outstanding.

On 15 December 2017, promissory notes with aggregate
principal amount of HK$778,000,000 have been transferred to
Total Idea International Limited, in which Mr. Hu, the executive
director and chairman of the Company, is the ultimate beneficial
owner.

On 5 December 2018, the maturity date of the promissory notes
has been extended from 28 July 2019 to 28 July 2020. Details
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 5 December
2018.

On 26 September 2019, the maturity date of the promissory
notes has been further extended from 28 July 2020 to 28 July
2021. Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
26 September 2019.

R2016F7H28H - ARRIFHTALHEEA
1,168,000,0008 T2 i R - {ERE D WHE
BELEHBREINE - ALERAEER
RETEFHEBEFE - WiEN20194F7 28H
3H o TR BBREH AT o AR B ATRAE
HERRITARE AR RE N B
BABLELBA  BO MO REEE -
A HEEF BRI RQER#E N AGTE

RATIERNEBZE2017E3A31 B ILFEREEM
R4 #2%8390,000,0008 T 2 A K 2 - A%
#8%53778,000,000/8 T 2 K EZF M AEE

20179124158 A4 456 4778,000,0007%%
THEAGEBREER T AR AR TESHRER A
EERBREREBAZZEBRBRBRAR -

2018F 128508 « A EHEMEIH B B20195F
7R28AIERE 202057 A288 © FHIEHAAA
Al HHIA2018F12A5AMAE ©

20199 A268 « # i E B/ EIH B B20205F
7R28A#E—HIERZE2021F7 A28H - 5
RARAT B HA2019F9 26 A AL ©

REBBERAR | —B-SEEH 175



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

31.

176

UNSECURED BORROWINGS FROM A DIRECTOR 3. EEEKBEE
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT THT
Unsecured borrowings denominated MARKBIBRNEERER
in RMB (note (i)) (HHE ()
— principal portion 1) 454,726 344,156
— interest portion —FEE5 45,750 12,451
500,476 356,607
Unsecured borrowing denominated in -~ LUB BRI ERFEE
HK$ (note (ii)) (B (if))
— principal portion 1) 92,285 50,000
— interest portion —FBE D 6,285 910
98,570 50,910
599,046 407,517

(i

On 1 June 2018 and 29 August 2018, an unsecured revolving loan
facility with an aggregate facility amount of RMB500,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$545,000,000) has been granted from Mr. Hu to certain
subsidiaries established in the PRC which carries a fixed interest rate
of 9% per annum, with original maturity date on 31 May 2020. On 26
September 2019, the maturity date of the above-mentioned loan facility
has been extended from 31 May 2020 to 6 July 2021.

As at 31 March 2020, unsecured borrowings with aggregate principal
amount of RMB417,180,000 (31 March 2019: RMB294,150,000),
equivalent to approximately HK$454,726,000 (31 March 2019:
HK$344,156,000), has been drawn down. The effective interest rate of
the unsecured borrowings is 9% per annum.

On 7 January 2019, another unsecured revolving loan facility has been
granted from Mr. Hu to an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company amounted to HK$100,000,000, which carries a fixed interest
rate of 8% per annum, with maturity date on 6 July 2021.

As at 31 March 2020, unsecured borrowing with principal amount of
HK$92,285,000 (31 March 2019: HK$50,000,000) has been drawn
down. The effective interest rate of the unsecured borrowing is 8% per
annum.
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R#417,180,0007 (201943 A31H : ARK
294,150,0007T ) 1H & 1A 47454,726,00075 7T 20194
3A318 : 344,156,000/ 7T ) 2 EEAREE o EIKH
EENERFERERE
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F7H6R °
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92,285,000/ 7T (201943 A31H : 50,000,000/
U EERMEE « SIERERNERFANERCE -



31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

UNSECURED BORROWINGS FROM A DIRECTOR 3. EEEMMEEE
(CONTINUED)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following RBEHR - ARE—RESRLMNKRENHE
undrawn facilities granted from a director: LN
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Fixed rate Ehals
— expiring on 31 May 2020 —H202045 A31 B Eim — 240,844
— expiring on 6 July 2021 —m20214F7 A6 E/H 97,989 50,000
97,989 290,844

REBBERAR/ —B-2FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

32. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 32. EEMREH
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities (assets) during B E 20204 2201953 A31 B ILF /8 2 EIEFTT5
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, without taking into REEEE)(UEF AR KK EERAR
consideration the offsetting of balances of the same entity within —ERNEEAR) 2 EHHT

the same tax jurisdictions, are as follows:

Revaluation of

investment
properties  Revaluation of
under financial asset

construction at FVTPL Tax losses Total
BRAREE
Ry FTAEEZ
BEME cREESMD WIEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT THT FAT
1 April 2018 20184818 15,967 — — 15,967
(Credited) charged to profit GFrA)HMEERE
or loss (7,609) 1,880 (1,880) (7,609)
Exchange differences bE =R (1,022) — — (1,022)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 M201953H31H
April 2019 20194 A18 7,336 1,880 (1,880) 7,336
(Credited) charged to profit GPNENEESES
or loss (5,992) (295) 295 (5,992)
Exchange differences fE 5 =58 (342) — — (342)
At 31 March 2020 720203 A31H 1,002 1,585 (1,585) 1,002
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32.

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

At 31 March 2020, the Group has estimated unused tax losses
of approximately HK$96,767,000 (2019: HK$116,224,000)
available for offsetting against future profits. Deferred tax
asset has been recongised in respect of estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$6,341,000 (2019: HK$7,520,000).
No deferred income tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the above remaining estimated unused tax losses
of approximately HK$90,426,000 (2019: HK$108,704,000)
due to unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses of
approximately HK$36,560,000 (2019: HK$36,560,000) have
no expiry date, while the remaining unused tax losses of
approximately HK$53,866,000 (2019: HK$72,144,000) will be
expired in five years after the relevant accounting year end
date.

At 31 March 2020, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$141,193,000 (2019:
HK$118,359,000) for which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to unpredictability of future profit streams.

SHARE CAPITAL

32.

33.

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

BIREEO. BT Ei@Ak

Number of shares

ELEFRESH(E)

20203 A318 + RN&EH4796,767,0007 7T
(20194 : 116,224,000/ 7T ) A] A {EIE 85 R 2R s
2 BT RBBHEEE - EREFT R AR
18 /E518476,341,000/4 7T ( 20194 : 7,520,000/
TOERBELERIBEE - AREEEBRKEH
TR - MR AR B T RE B FIEEE
4790,426,0007% 7T.( 20194 : 108,704,000557T)
WREEFTEH A E - Hi1BE18436,560,0007%
7T (20194 : 36,560,000 7T ) I 4% J& s A &1 -
ek T A& B) A1 T &5 184953,866,0007 7T.( 2019
F 172,144,000 L) B FEEE A
& RFAERM

R2020F3A31H + AEBFAJMRE R EE
FE#7141,193,00078 70 ( 20194F : 118,359,000/
7o) - AREETEIARICRFIZOR - B SRR
ERETRIEEE ©

R

Share capital
RDEE (TN

2020 2019
GLCIE  HK$'000
TRT TAT

Authorised ERE
At the beginning and end of the year ~ REHRER 5,000,000 5,000,000 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid, HK$0.1 each BETRAR BREE
0187
Atthe beginning and end of the year ~ REHRER 1,906,172 1,906,172 190,617 190,617
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

34.

180

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 17 August 2012, the Company adopted the 2012 share
option scheme (the “2012 Scheme”) under which the directors
of the Company may grant options to eligible persons to
subscribe for the Company’s shares subject to the terms and
conditions as stipulated therein. Unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, the 2012 Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10
years from the adoption date.

The purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide incentives to the
eligible participants to contribute to the Group and to enable the
Group to recruit high-caliber employees and attract resources
that are valuable to the Group. Under the 2012 Scheme, the
directors of the Company may grant options to any person
being an employee, officer, agent, or consultant of the Group
including executive or non-executive directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company
at a price to be determined by the board of directors being
the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant of the option, which must be a
trading day; (b) the average closing price of the shares of the
Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (c) the nominal value of the
shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which the 2012 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the number of shares in issue at the
date of adoption of the 2012 Scheme or such number of shares
as a result from a sub-division or consolidation of the number of
shares at that date. Subject to as provided in the 2012 Scheme,
the Company may seek approval from its shareholders in
general meeting to refresh this 10% limit, but the total number of
shares which may be issued under the 2012 Scheme must not
exceed 30% of the number of shares in issue from time to time.

No participant shall be granted an option which, if accepted
and exercised in full, would result in the participant becoming
entitled to subscribe for such number of shares as, when
aggregated with the total number of shares already issued and
which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted and
to be granted to him, together with all options granted and to
be granted to him under any other share option schemes of the
Company and/or any subsidiaries, within the 12-month period
immediately preceding the proposed date of grant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options), would exceed
1% of the number of shares in issue as at the proposed date of
grant.
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34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The 2012 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing 17 August 2012.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date of
grant upon payment of HK$1 for each grant of options. Subject
to as provided in the 2012 Scheme, options may be exercised
at any time during the option period, which is to be notified by
the directors of the Company to each grantee, commencing
on the date of grant or such later date as the board of directors
may decide and expiring on such date as the board of directors
may determine, provided that such period is not to exceed ten
years from the date of grant, and subject to any restrictions that
may be imposed by the board of directors in its discretion.

Details of the principal terms of the 2012 Scheme are set out in
the circular of the Company dated 6 July 2012.

As at 31 March 2020, the total number of shares available to be
issued under the 2012 Scheme is 190,617,185 shares (2019:
190,617,185 shares) due to refreshment of share option scheme
at the annual general meeting on 26 July 2018, representing
10% (2019: 10%) of the issued shares outstanding. Further
details of approval of refreshment of 2012 Scheme are set out in
the Company’s circular and announcement dated 22 June 2018
and 26 July 2018 respectively.

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled and
lapsed by the Company under the 2012 Scheme during the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. No share options under
the 2012 Scheme are outstanding as at 31 March 2020 and
2019.

34.

RS E(E)
201255128l v AR E 2012458 A 17 B #E51 A HA
T o

B2 B BRI L B IRE 28 H MR
o WERGRERREZEEIN BT - RIE
2012F S EIZ RTE - BAKA RN R EERE
BERS TR - BRESRESRARAES
HMBRABRA  ARUAB(REFTSRATE
ZBEEH)EF  YHRESERELASE
o EBRERR SR L R RE T ERE T
F - YAXESERBHIN EMRFFTRR -

201265 EI 2 TR FHBRERA LB AR
20127 A6H 2 @K °

7202093 A31H » 20124+ 2178 N A2 77 P%
P 42%5190,617,185[% (20194 : 190,617,185
%) (E B R T 2174201847 A 26 B IR R IBE
REEH) HERNRBEINEBITROBERN
10% (20195 : 10%) ° BEE#L/EEF201245 5
I — B ORISR AR R BH 4201856
F228 7 k%2018 7 A26 B v Ak ©

EHZE2020F K2019F3A31H EFE » RAF
WEIRZ2012F 231K L » 171F - AR
ZBIRIE - 20204 20193 A318 » 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RARMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

35. COMMITMENTS 35. &g
(a) Capital commitment (a)

Capital expenditure contracted but BRI KBRS 8%
not provided for in the consolidated BEBHEERFAX
financial statements

BEAR
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRT TAT

— Construction of properties — R 79,973 125,937
— Decoration —R{E 2,104 —
82,077 125,937
(b)  Operating lease commitments (b) EEEERIE
The Group as lessee TEEEREHEA

At 31 March 2019, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease of the rented premises, which falls
due as follows:

R201953A31H * AEEHREEMR
ZARREBEAZRRHERMT :

2019
HK$'000
FHET
(Restated)
(£31))

Within 1 year 1R

In the second to fifth years inclusive F2EESFAN(BEEMSF
BIEER)

Over 5 years S5FLA

11,596

16,452
21,633

49,681

At 31 March 2019, leases are negotiated for an average
term of eight months to thirteen years and rentals are
fixed during the relevant lease period.
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36.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Operating lease commitments (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

The Group is the lessee in respect of the rented office
which the leases were previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially applied
HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach.
Under this approach, the Group adjusted the opening
balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities
relating to these leases (see note 3). From 1 April 2019
onwards, future lease payments are recognised as
lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position in accordance with the policies set out in note
4, and the details regarding the Group’s future lease
payments are disclosed in note 23.

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has entered in the following transactions
with related parties:

(a) Key management compensation

Key management includes executive directors and
senior management of the Company. The compensation
paid or payable to key management for employee
services is shown below:

35.

36.

EiE(R)
(b) EEEEREGE
AEBEREEA ()

AEEABEREREGERFE 7
FoBALERENNAZTRENER
A o REEE REIETRB AR
BEMIERELEAE 165 - RIEZA
% REER2019F4 A1 B AL
&% UEREEHENEEAB(RME
3) - 5201954 B1H#E - RKFAEMK
BB AT BRI R A SR R
REMEARE  AEASERRAER
HEFEEH BRI TS -

EXBERRS
B e BRAEMBOARESRS  ARED
BEPENRINIATRS

(8 TEEBASZHH
TEERABAEALARTEERE
MEBAS - SHIBEIESRBE (e
NFEEERAS HHETIMT -

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER FHET

Short-term benefits RRHIER 9,893 8,870
Post-employment benefits BT 25 39
9,918 8,909

The remuneration of executive directors of the Company
is determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of operating results and
individual performance.

ARAIMTESZME HHFHEES
REEXBERAREARRMERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RARMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BEABEIRZ(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b)  Significant related party transactions (b) EXBELIRS

In addition to the information shown elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with a related party,
which was entered into at terms mutually agreed with
the related party.

PR M RRE A D T E RS -
AEBEBESREBETIRBOG
FETUATERRS -

2020 2019
Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
BN B XHHE THR T
Entities which are under control  Rental expenses 577 1,305
by Mr. Hu HERX
AT A B Purchases of property, plant
and equipment — 493
BEVE BELRE
Interest expenses on other
borrowings — 2,609
HifEEESHFSHX
Interest expense on promissory
notes 62,368 62,240
LB E R S
Mr. Hu Interest expense on unsecured
HREE borrowings 42,014 13,255

EEREEELNNEHX

These transactions are carried out at normal commercial
terms determined and agreed by the Group and the
related parties.

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group (c)
borrowed a secured bank loan of RMB1,250,000,000
guarantee by Mr. Hu, a director of the Company (2019:
Nil).

(d) Balances with related parties (d)

Except for as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had no other material
balances with related parties as at 31 March 2020 and
2019.
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37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of an independent trustee. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, capped at HK$1,500
(2019: HK$1,500) per month, in which the contribution is
matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme being
operated by the local PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries
are required to contribute 10% to 15% (2019: 10% to 15%) of
the average basic salary to the retirement benefits scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The total expense charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss of approximately HK$4,795,000 (2019:
HK$3,056,000, as restated) represents contributions payable to
these schemes by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2020.

37.

RIKERETE
AEBEAMARSAEREBZMARESTE -
RESHECEERBYETEAMEFESR
B WHAKECZEEDRES - AEEMR
BEF BN B RBEABEFHRAZ5%
HH R A A1,5008 7T (20194 : 1,500/8
7T) - BEEFMTFELTR -

AEETEBARZEEARTEELRTE
M BERERRKEFEIZKE - FEMBA
RIEGERERF B FHEAFHE210% 2
15% (20194 : 10% = 15% ) {EAIBFIE S &
BREHEEINE AEEZH—EE AT B

FEHR -

FEIRABRE T BT 44,795,00058 L2019
F : 3,056,000 7T(ES)) - BAEBERER
202093 A31H FFE AR Lzt EI1EL 2 #

=+
Koo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

38.

186

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities.

38.

REMEEH 2 ABEHEK

TRHAIARERNREEDELCRERS B
BRENIFREEE - REERDELCRERR
EREFIARRRASREINGERERERT D

BRBELD AERECAE -

Non-cash changes
¥RLEY
Financing Finance
1 April cash New Disposal of costs Exchange 31 March
2019 flows lease subsidiaries incurred differences 2020
20195 EE HEKHE EimE 20205
4818  HERE FHE E KA EXREH  3A318
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000  HK$000  HK$000
THT THEx TAT ThT THEx TAT THEr
(Restated)
(%31
Lease liabilities HEERE 34,032 (8,598) 6,337 = 3,235 (2,024) 32982
Amounts due to related [ERBEARTE
companies 2,933 (2,219) — (38) — 475 1,151
Promissory notes ESES 917,827 = = = 62,368 — 980,195
Unsecured borrowings foma B EEMEE
director 407 517 198,014 — (19,285) 42,014 (29.214) 599,046
Bank and other borrowings ST REMAEE 1,009,030 1,127,113 = = 86,185  (64,972) 2,157,356
2,371,339 1314310 6,337 (19,323) 193,802 (95,735) 8,770,730
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39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 38. REMEIBHZEEHIKR(E)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)
Non-cash changes
FREBE
Financing  Finance
1 April cash costs Exchange 31 March
2018 flows incurred differences 2019
20185 ME FEE 20195
4818 BERE MEMREL EREE  3A31H
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKE000
TAET TET TET T TET
(Restated) (Restated)  (Restated)
(E751) (E31) (E31)
Amounts due to related companies YN — 2919 — 14 2,933
Promissory notes ERLER 855,587 — 62,240 — 917,827
Unsecured borrowings from a director ESEEREE — 391214 13,255 3048 407517
Other borrowings Hifa & 1,121,906 (143,114) 102,391 (72,153) 1,009,030
1,977,493 251,019 177,886 (69,091) 2,337,307
BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 39. E—2H T E£KE6

CONTROL

As mentioned in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the acquisition of Zhejiang Doof has been accounted for
as business combination under common control for a cash
consideration of RMB500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$545,000). Accordingly, as Mr. Hu became the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Group as stated in the
Company’s announcement dated 22 October 2018, the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2019, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been restated
to include the assets and liabilities and the operating results of
Zhejiang Doof as if this acquisition had been completed on 22
October 2018, being the earliest date when Zhejiang Doof and
the Company first came under the common control of Mr. Hu.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Wenzhou Doof
injected capital of RMB465,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$510,000) at cash to Zhejiang Doof.

MG ERAM 2R R - WEHNT 2 75
BR—ZEHTHEBREHIE - EREREBA
R#500,0007T (F8%& 1A 41545,000787T) ° Rt
HAMAAT BHIA20184E10 B 22 B A & Fr
MRS AR AR EBRAEIRIER - R20194F3
A31BZIRAMBHRRE - NEBBHZ2019F3
A3BIEFEZ A EE REMEZANER « 47
EREZEBRRGARERERES - U AU
TZHBNEERBENREEEE Pz hE
EEM20185F10A22BE K - BIINTI %3 K%
ARRERZHREER 2z REAH -

HZE2020F3A31BIEEFE @ BN Z AT
LB EIE ARKE465,000T (HHERD
510,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #{Z=202053A31H [t F /&

39. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 39. B—E5 TE£KS0H(E)
CONTROL (CONTINUED)
The reconciliation of the effect, arising from the common control HEEEA G EEE201953 831 B ILEEGA
combination on the consolidated statements of profit or loss for BERRELNTEHERESSINT

the year ended 31 March 2019 is as follows:

The Group
excluding
Zhejiang Doof  Zhejiang Doof ~ Consolidated

AEB(FEHE
WISH) WMI%H oe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT TAT TAT
(From
(As previously 22/10/2018
reported) to 31/3/2019) (Restated)
(B20184
10A22BZ
(B 20195
BIFT23R) 3A31R) (51
Revenue WA 156,721 2,678 159,399
Cost of sales SHERAK (96,488) (1,402) (97,890)
Gross profit e 60,233 1,276 61,509
Other income and gains, net Hiplhzs RN 558 435 8 443
Increase in fair value of financial asset at fair value AR BETAERZS
through profit or loss BMEEALBEEN 7,520 — 7,520
Selling expenses HERY (7,627) — (7,627)
Administrative expenses G (42,487) (937) (43,424)
Decrease in fair value of investment properties ERRENEAR(EE
under construction s (30,438) — (30,438)
Finance income IE 37 — 37
Finance costs BERR AR (83,005) — (83,005)
Loss before tax BRERIEE (95,332) 347 (94,985)
Income tax expenses FIEHiAY (33,991) = (33,991)
Loss for the year FABE (129,323) 347 (128,976)
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39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON

CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The reconciliation of the effect arising from the common control

39.

] — 25T E% S 5 (8)

HFEEHIE 201943 A31 B4R & M BN

combination on the consolidated statements of financial position REERNZEHEHIWNT
as at 31 March 2019 is as follow:
The Group
excluding
Zhejiang Doof ~ Zhejiang Doof ~ Consolidated
AEE(FEE
WIZH) WIS 3 =8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT
(As previously
reported) (Restated)
(Fmsk
Gl (E71)
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment properties under construction EEREYE 1,767,135 — 1,767,135
Property, plant and equipment ER S 661,090 23 661,113
Prepaid lease payments BAHRERNTE 264,479 — 264,479
Financial asset at fair value through profit or RARBHEFABRELZ
loss TRIEE 9,925 — 9,925
2,702,629 23 2,702,652
Current assets RBEE
Properties under development BRPME 501,289 — 501,289
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMEKEER 47 428 2,697 50,125
Cash and cash equivalents ReRZERRE 163,248 570 163,818
711,965 3,267 715,232
Current liabilities nBaE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMER 178,478 1,313 179,791
Amount due to related companies [ENBIEARIZIA 1,305 1,628 2,933
Current income tax liabilities EHREHAE 118,359 — 118,359
Other borrowings Hifa & 73,030 — 73,030
371,172 2,941 374,113
Net current assets REBEETFE 340,793 3% 341,119
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBDAR 3,043,422 349 3,043,771
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RARMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

39. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 39. FA-—EHTEESHE)
CONTROL (CONTINUED)
The Group
excluding
Zhejiang Doof ~ Zhejiang Doof ~ Consolidated
58 (TR
WI%3) WIS )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T T
(As previously
reported) (Restated)
(Fmsk
AIFTE2HR) (&31)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities BILAETIEE 7,336 = 7,336
Promissory notes AR 917,827 — 917,827
Other borrowings Hifg & 936,000 — 936,000
Unsecured borrowings from a director EEEEREER 407 517 = 407,517
2,268,680 — 2,268,680
Net assets BERE 774,742 349 775,091
Capital and reserves EXRfE
Share capital AR 190,617 — 190,617
Reserves [t 584,125 349 584,474
774,742 349 775,091
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40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group disposed of its entire equity interest in Joyful Spirit
Ventures Limited (“Joyful Spirit”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Joyful Spirit Group”) to an independent third
party at a cash consideration of RMB1, equivalent to HK$1, on
13 December 2019. The net assets of the Joyful Spirit Group at

the date of disposal were as follows:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

40. HEKBAF

=R

KERGIEZBERBENIN :

AEEER2019F12A13BM—EBIE=H
HEH R Joyful Spirit Ventures Limited ([ Joyful
Spirit]) R E B A 7] (518 &l Joyful Spirit &
B2 EkE  ReREAARBKITHEER
1787T) ° Joyful Spirit RERNHE BEi 2 B EF

13 December 2019

201912 A13H

HK$'000

FHET

Property, plant and equipment 0E - BERRE 4

Trade and other receivables 2 5 I H At e IR 5R 14,344

Amount due from related companies e U FdE A R kR 28

Cash and cash equivalents RekERAL 4,659

Accruals and other payables FEET B A R E Ao AR SR (2,775)

Amount due to a related company e —fRIRAE A RIFIR (38)

Unsecured borrowings from a director of the Company AR =& S EIEHEE (19,285)

Net liabilities disposed of HEBETE (3,063)

Gain on the Disposal: HEEH M

2020

HK$'000

FHEL

Net consideration received and receivable B RERRESE =

Net liabilities disposed of HEAEFE 3,063
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net ~ REEKTB A FHEFERHB AR EE
assets of the subsidiaries reclassified from equity to FEHERENYER R RiTE

profit or loss on loss of control of the subsidiaries HER 69

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBA R A 3,132

REBBERAR/ —B-2FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 40. HEHE AR (E)
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in BRI E Joyful Spirt EB 7 R & RERBRE R
respect of the disposal of the Joyful Spirit Group is as follows: HFEATT
2020
HK$°000
THET

Cash proceeds received BEYER S TS 50E =
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of o HERe RERRS (4,659)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of ~ HEHE Joyful Spirit EE 74 K
the disposal of the Joyful Spirit Group SRBREMLFRE (4,659)
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 4.
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

RBEALRMBRR R 2ER

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BT THEx FAT
Non-current assets FREEE
Plant and equipment e 15 23
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR Z%E (i) 1,452,091 1,658,750
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 1,823 —
1,453,929 1,658,773
Current assets REEE
Deposits, prepayments and other ®e - BAFEREmE
receivables WERFX 23,140 22,417
Amounts due from subsidiaries UL B A R 5 IR (ii) 404,572 404,579
Cash and cash equivalents RekERBRE 1,001 1,018
428,713 428,014
Current liabilities REIAE
Other payables H A FERT AR IR 3,739 3,285
Amounts due to subsidiaries RRLEINGE e (ii) 564,511 538,060
Lease liabilities HERE 1,921 —
570,171 541,345
Net current liabilities REAETFE (141,458) (113,331)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREBARE 1,312,471 1,545,442
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Promissory notes EHEER 980,195 917,827
Net assets BERE 332,276 627,615
Capital and reserves RARGRE
Share capital A 190,617 190,617
Reserves ] (iii) 141,659 436,998
Total equity HER 332,276 627,615
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RARMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

41. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 41. BEAQRMBEMRRER ZER (F)
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
Notes: Bzt -
(i) Investments in subsidiaries (i) RTBARHIEE
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHT
COST AR
At the beginning and the end of the year RENRER 1,658,750 1,658,750
IMPAIRMENT BIE
At the beginning of the year REA = —
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RIBE AR AR 206,659 =
At the end of the year REXR 206,659 =
CARRYING AMOUNT BREE 1,452,091 1,658,750
(ii) The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on (ii) R20204F [ 2019463 A31H » ABFUAAEEA -
demand as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. Pt BRIREKEE -
(iii) Movement in reserves: (iii) HEE
Retained
profits
Share (accumulated
premium losses) Total
R R
BRIDEE  (RFER) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET
At 1 April 2018 R2018F481H 446,244 75,520 521,764
Loss for the year rEEEE = (84,766) (84,766)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R2019F38318 K
201954818 446,244 (9,246) 436,998
Loss for the year KEEFBE — (295,339) (295,339)
At 31 March 2020 #2020%F3H31H 446,244 (304,585) 141,659
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42.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHRRME

Place of establishment/
operation and kind of

42.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

AATERMBLTEHR

Percentage of equity interest

Name of subsidiary legal entity Paid up capital attributable to the Company Principle activities
EEREBIRY
Wi B £ 18 EEMERME BRREX AAEEERERDL TEXK
2020 2019
Direct  Indirect Direct Indirect
B k3 Hi k3
Chongging Kingstone The PRC, wholly-owned US$67,389,400 — 100% — 100% Development, sales and
foreign enterprise (2019: US$67,389,400) leasing of properties
and investment holding
BEER hE - AEEERE 67,389,400 7T — 100% — 100% MHEERE - HEREERK
(2019% : B
67,389,400 7T)
Zhejiang Doof The PRC, wholly-owned RMB467,500 — 100% — 100% Provision of property
foreign enterprise (2019; nil) (note 39) management services
e FE - SMEEERE AR¥467,5007T — 100% — 100% REMEEERE

The above table lists the subsidiary of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the

(2019 : ) (Hfz£39)

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other

subsidiaries that are not material to the Group.

IRIBARAEERRIRYEASEXE
FEERABZAKEMEBEAR - ARAES
B REEGHMBRRFERERELERTT

Eo

RFERR - AREREHASEYNEAZE
BT o

REBBERRR/ —S=SFFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 &;Z=202043H31H (- &

42

196

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE ~ 42.

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

The principal activities and place of business of these

subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

AATERMELTER ()

ZEMBRA TBEBREEHIBAIT -

Number of subsidiaries

MELRHE

Principal activities Principal place of business 2019
TEXK TEEXNE
Inactive Hong Kong 7 13
WEES BB

BVI — 1

RBRLHES

The PRC 9 9

e

Singapore 1 1

N
Investment holding Hong Kong 11 4
KREZR BB

BVI 16 16

RBRLHES

The PRC 1 —

e
Property management The PRC 1 1
WERER i

46 45

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities at the
end of or at any time during both reporting periods.

Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2020

R ER SRS AN E MR - SERE AR
BETEMERES



43.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 #(Z=202043A31H L5 /&

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 8 May 2020, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with Mr. Hu Shikuan and Ms. Zhang Tingting
(the“Vendors”), father and niece of Mr. Hu, an executive director
and ultimate controlling Shareholder of the Company, pursuant
to which the Group conditionally agreed to acquire, and the
Vendors conditionally agreed to sell, the entire equity interest in
Wenzhou Junshang Decoration Co., Ltd. (“Wenzhou Junshang”)
at the consideration of RMB1. Wenzhou Junshang in turn owns
70% of the equity interests in Wenzhou Beichen Construction
Co., Ltd.

The acquisition was completed in June 2020.

43.

H%EE

R2020F5A80 + AEEERLEEERKE
BrE((EH] DRAARAMTESRHEK
ERBRERLTEZ LB RIIMNMEL)FILEER
7Bl AEEBRGERENE  MEAEK
HRZHERMNERNEMARAB(DAMER])
ZEREME REAAREIT  BNEHES
BN RIEZAR AR T70% 2 MR

Wi £ 2020476 A FTAK ©
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEHBRE

RESULTS
E 3
For the year ended 31 March
HZE3AMALEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT FAT FHAT FAT
(Restated) (Restated)
(£751)) (&3)
Revenue WA 124,853 159,399 23,188 133,714 190,698
(Loss) profit before tax BEial (B8 ) EH (165,055) (94,985) (87,046) (51,940) 106,104
Income tax expenses FSHiAY (25,787) (33,991) (22,626) (68,912) (38,623)
(Loss) profit for the AEERAFELE
year from continuing %152 (BB R
operations (190,842)  (128976)  (109,672)  (120,852) 67,481
Profit (loss) for the year from  AFERE DA &
discontinued operation BERZn (&
1) — — 16,478 (1,628) —
(Loss) profit for the year REE(BE)ER (190,842) (128,976) (93,194) (122,480) 67,481
(Loss) profit for the year BAEEEREE
attributable to: (BB &M :
Owners of the Company NABIHEAA (190,842) (128,976) (92,650) (121,926) 51,192
Non-controlling interests ES G 3y — — (544) (554) 16,289
(190,842) (128,976) (93,194) (122,480) 67,481
Dividend per share BREE
Interim dividend FHIR S — — — = =

Special interim dividend 5 Bl R HR RS — — — — —
Proposed final dividend BRREIRR S — — — — —
Proposed special dividend  #ERE RIS — = = = —
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEMBRE
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BENEE
At 31 March
R3A31H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FHT FAT FAET
(Restated)
(&71)
Total assets BWEE 4,601,842 3,417,884 3,312,220 4,355,905 1,827,976
Total liabilities BaE (4,131,361)  (2,642,793)  (2,287,919)  (3,227,138) (663,843)
Non-controlling interests FEE R — — — (141,386) (156,082)
Equity attributable to RRFEE AL
owners of the Company by 470,481 775,091 1,024,301 987,381 1,008,051
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PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

ETEYE

Below is a schedule of properties held by the Group in the PRC as at 31

March 2020:

Location

ith Bk

Description and Tenure

B K 1

Use
ke

202034318 - AEENN B MEMERDT -

Group’s Interest

A5 B A R 2R

Commercial portion of the property

located at 77 Qingnian Road,

Yuzhong District, Chongging,the

PRC

R EEET AT REFETTHRY

RZBERD

Serviced Apartments portion of the
property located at 77 Qingnian
Road, Yuzhong District, Chongging,

the PRC

R EEET AT REFETTHRY

RZBBARERHD

Residential portion of the property

located at 77 Qingnian Road,

Yuzhong District, Chongaing, the

PRC

R EEET AT REFETTHRY

E /NP

The portion has a total gross floor
area of approximately 49,166.19
square meters.

The portion is held under medium
lease between 10 years and 50
years.

ZEP D RS 15 4)49,166.19F ;5
>|< o

AR AN F10Z505 2 F HIFE A
BE -

The portion has a total gross floor
area of approximately 22,470.90
square meters.

The portion is held under medium
lease between 10 years and 50
years.

ZEP D RS E4)22,470.90F /5
>|< o

ZYE AN F10Z505 2 FHIFE L)
BE -

The portion has a total gross floor
area of approximately 18,757.48
square meters.

ZEDEEMAEA)18,757.48 5
}I{ o

200 Man Sang International Limited / Annual Report 2020

Commercial building under

development

BROBEET

Serviced apartments

Residential building under
development

BRPLFET

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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